Aus dem Institut für Medizinische Psychologie der Medizinischen Fakultät Charité – Universitätsmedizin Berlin

DISSERTATION

Early-Life Stress and Epigenetic Ageing in Preschool-Aged Children

Lebensgeschichtlich Frühe Stresserfahrungen und Epigenetische Alterung bei Kindern im Vorschulalter

> zur Erlangung des akademischen Grades Doctor rerum medicinalium (Dr. rer. medic.)

vorgelegt der Medizinischen Fakultät Charité – Universitätsmedizin Berlin

von

M.Sc.-Psych. Felix Dammering

Datum der Promotion: 23.03.2024

Table of contents

L	ist of tables	. iii
L	ist of figures	. iv
L	ist of abbreviations	v
A	bstract	1
1	Introduction	4
	1.1 Current relevance of ELS research	4
	1.2 Biological ageing as potential risk indicator for ageing-related diseases	5
	1.3 Biological age determination: Epigenetic age and epigenetic ageing	6
	1.4 Accelerated epigenetic ageing and risk for pathogenesis	7
	1.5 Development of the PedBE clock for epigenetic age estimation in children	9
	1.6 Study aims	10
2	Methods	12
	2.1 Operationalization of ELS: Maltreatment Classification	12
	2.2 Operationalization of ELS: Psychiatric Assessment	13
	2.3 Biological stress markers: Saliva Samples	13
	2.4 Epigenetic age: DNA Methylation in Saliva	14
	2.5 Epigenetic age: Estimation and epigenetic ageing computation	14
	2.6 Gene set enrichment for glucocorticoid responsiveness of the PedBE clock	16
	2.7 Statistical analysis	16
	2.7.1 Epigenetic ageing and ELS	16
	2.7.2 Covariates	17
	2.7.3 Gene set enrichment analysis with dexamethasone within the PedBE clock	18
3	. Results	19
	3.1 Epigenetic ageing and psychopathology	20
	3.2 Epigenetic ageing, psychopathology, and maltreatment	21
	3.3 Epigenetic ageing, Cortisol and CRP	24

	3.4 Enriched dexamethasone responsive CpG sites within the PedBE clock	25
4.	Discussion	26
	4.1 Summary of results and embedding into current state of research	26
	4.2 Interpretation of results	28
	4.3 Outlook	30
	4.4 Strengths and weaknesses of the study	31
5.	Conclusions	32
R	eference list	33
St	tatutory Declaration	43
D	eclaration of your own contribution to the publications	44
E	xcerpt from Journal Summary List	46
Pı	rinting copy(s) of the publication(s)	48
C	urriculum Vitae	57
Pı	ublication list	59
A	cknowledgments	. 60

List of tables

Table 1. Statistics and sample characteristics (Table adapted from Table 1 in	
Dammering et al. [2021])	. 19
Table 2. Linear model of predictors of epigenetic ageing (Table adapted from Table 2	in 2
Dammering et al. [2021]).	. 22
Table 3. Correlations between epigenetic ageing and biological stress markers	. 24

List of figures

List of abbreviations

ELS	-	Early-life stress
PedBE	-	Pediatric buccal epigenetic
CRP	-	C-reactive Protein
CpG	-	Cytosine-phosphate-guanine sites
DNA	-	Desoxyribonucleic acid
BerlinLCS	-	Berlin Longitudinal Children Study
PAPA	-	Preschool Age Psychiatric Assessment
AUCg	-	Area under the curve with respect to ground
BMI	-	Body mass index
MPIP	-	Max Planck Institute of Psychiatry
DSM-IV	-	Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders fourth edition
ANCOVA	-	Analysis of covariances
OLS	-	Ordinary least square regression
SES	-	Socioeconomic status
SD	-	Standard deviation
CI	-	Confidence interval
OR	-	Odds ratio
DNMT1	_	DNA methyltransferase 1

Abstract

<u>Background:</u> Research of stress-related ageing may be crucial to tackle future burdens for health care systems. Chronic stress exposure during childhood such as exposure to maltreatment is associated with ageing-related diseases and global population as well as life expectancy is steadily increasing. However, understanding of underlying mechanisms remains cloudy. The current study investigates epigenetic ageing in children in association with various manifestations of stress exposure including psychopathology and maltreatment and biological stress. Further, epigenetic ageing is assessed in relation to stress-related biological factors including glucocorticoid signaling and inflammation.

<u>Methods</u>: Hypotheses were tested in 158 children aged 3 to 5 years. The impact of psychopathology on epigenetic ageing was tested and maltreatment was integrated as moderator in this relationship. The association between epigenetic ageing and biological correlates of stress, i.e., Cortisol and CRP, was examined overall and in groups of differential risk for accelerated epigenetic ageing. Lastly, it was evaluated whether the pediatric buccal epigenetic (PedBE) clock is responsive to glucocorticoids. <u>Results</u>: Internalizing disorder significantly accelerated epigenetic ageing ($F_{1,147} = 6.67$, p = 0.011) while externalizing disorder had no effect on epigenetic ageing. Maltreatment gradually increased the effect of internalizing disorder on epigenetic ageing (b = 0.49, 95% CI [0.073, 0.909], t = 2.322, p = 0.022). Further, epigenetic ageing significantly correlated with cortisol (r [32] = 0.36, p = 0.043) and CRP (r [32] = 0.42, p = 0.016) in maltreated children with internalizing disorder. A significant amount of the PedBE clock CpG sites (18/94) was responsive to glucocorticoid exposure (OR = 4.36, $p = 1.65*10^{-6}$).

<u>Conclusion:</u> The current study identified maltreatment as catalyzer for accelerated epigenetic ageing in children with internalizing disorder and thereby expanded knowledge on stress-related ageing very early in life. This relationship may depend on inflammation and glucocorticoids. Determination of epigenetic age could depict a relevant future tool for identification of children at increased risk for stress-related morbidity and may thereby enable and support early targeted interventions.

Zusammenfassung

<u>Hintergrund:</u> Die Erforschung stressbedingten Alterns kann entscheidend sein, um künftigen Herausforderungen für Gesundheitssysteme zu begegnen. Chronischer Stress in der Kindheit wird mit altersbedingten Krankheiten in Verbindung gebracht. Dabei steigen die Weltbevölkerung sowie die Lebenserwartung der Menschen stetig an. Ein Verständnis der zugrunde liegenden Mechanismen bleibt jedoch weitgehend unklar. Die aktuelle Studie untersucht das epigenetische Altern bei Kindern im Zusammenhang mit verschiedenen Manifestationen von Stressexposition, einschließlich Psychopathologie, Misshandlungserfahrungen und biologischem Stress. Darüber hinaus wird getestet, inwieweit stressbiologische Korrelate wie Glukokortikoide und Inflammation zur epigenetischen Alterung beitragen.

<u>Methodik:</u> Für die vorliegende Studie wurden 158 Kindern im Alter zwischen 3 und 5 Jahren untersucht. Der Einfluss der Psychopathologie auf die epigenetische Alterung wurde getestet und Misshandlungserfahrungen als Moderator in diesem Zusammenhang berücksichtigt. Der Zusammenhang zwischen epigenetischer Alterung und biologischen Korrelaten von Stress, Cortisol und CRP, wurde insgesamt und innerhalb von Gruppen mit unterschiedlichem Risiko für eine beschleunigte epigenetische Alterung untersucht. In einem letzten Schritt wurde in einer unabhängigen Stichprobe untersucht, ob die CpG-Dinukleotide der PedBE clock reaktiv gegenüber Glukokortikoiden sind.

<u>Ergebnisse</u>: Kinder mit internalisierender Psychopathologie wiesen eine beschleunigte epigenetische Alterung im Vergleich zu Kindern ohne internalisierende Psychopathologie auf ($F_{1,147} = 6.67$, p = 0.011), wobei externalisierende Psychopathologie keinen Effekt auf die epigenetische Alterung hatte. Der Schweregrad der Misshandlungserfahrungen erhöhte graduell den auf die epigenetische Alterung beschleunigenden Effekt von internalisierender Psychopathologie (b = 0.49, 95 % KI [0.073, 0.909], t = 2.322, p = 0.022). Darüber hinaus war bei Kindern mit internalisierender Psychopathologie und Misshandlungserfahrungen die epigenetische Alterung signifikant mit Kortisol (r [32] = 0.36, p = 0.043) und CRP (r [32] = 0.42, p =0.016) assoziiert. In der PedBE clock waren signifikant mehr CpG-Dinukleotide reaktiv gegenüber Dexamethason (18 von 94) als es bei 94 CpG-Dinukleotiden zu erwarten wäre (OR = 4.36, $p = 1,65*10^{-6}$). Bei einem Gruppenvergleich nach Misshandlungsstatus und dem Vorhandensein einer internalisierenden Störung wiesen zwei spezifische CpG-Dinukleotide eine aberrante DNA-Methylierung auf.

<u>Schlussfolgerung:</u> Die aktuelle Studie identifizierte Misshandlungserfahrungen als Wegbereiter für eine beschleunigte epigenetische Alterung bei Kindern mit internalisierender Störung und konnte dadurch den Wissensstand über stressbedingtes beschleunigtes biologisches Altern, das bereits sehr früh im Leben stattfindet, erweitern. Dieser Zusammenhang könnte zudem mit erhöhten Konzentrationen von inflammatorischen Parametern und Glukokortikoiden zusammenhängen. Die Bestimmung des epigenetischen Alters könnte damit ein wichtiges Werkzeug zur Identifizierung von Kindern mit erhöhtem Risiko für stressbedingte Morbidität im Kindesund Erwachsenenalter darstellen und dadurch frühzeitige und gezielte Interventionen ermöglichen.

1 Introduction

Early-life stress (ELS) such as child maltreatment, war-related trauma as well as suffering from psychiatric disorders during childhood can critically increase vulnerability for somatic diseases and psychopathology later in life. Child maltreatment is one aggravated form of ELS and includes experiences of physical neglect and abuse, witnessing domestic violence, sexual abuse as well as emotional maltreatment (e.g., caretakers threatening their child with putting it up for adoption). From a psychodynamic perspective, ELS can be understood as traumatic experiences that critically exceed an individual's defense mechanisms producing psychological and biological stress. A growing body of literature has collected evidence for measurable biological alterations following ELS exposure and due to increased neuroplasticity during maturation children represent a vulnerable risk group in this regard (Heim & Binder, 2012; Lupien et al., 2009). It is believed that such biological alterations forge a link between ELS and increased risk for pathogenesis.

1.1 Current relevance of ELS research

The risk to be exposed to ELS has not merely decreased, but rather increased during the COVID-19 pandemic as indicated by epidemiological studies. In Germany the prevalence for psychiatric disorders in children aged 7 to 17 years increased from overall 10% to nearly 18% during the pandemic and the increase was particularly higher (from 7.4% to 26.8%) in younger children aged 7 to 10 years (Ravens-Sieberer et al., 2021). Further, based on a nationwide survey it is estimated that over 30% of children in Germany have experienced at least one category of maltreatment (Witt et al., 2018) and the number of cases of child maltreatment is believed to have increased during COVID-19 pandemic (Griffith, 2020). Risk factors making maltreatment more likely may be increased perceived stress of parents and parental burnout (Griffith, 2020) and in fact, parents reported that familiar conflicts escalated quicker during the COVID-19 pandemic than they have before (Ravens-Sieberer et al., 2021). However, the true number of child maltreatment cases remains unknown.

Provision of early help for children experiencing ELS relies on detailed knowledge on whether and how ELS contributes to clinically relevant health outcomes. Increased Neuroplasticity during childhood not only indicates higher susceptibility for stress, but on the flipside, implies higher chances for successful stress-targeting interventions. In this regard, it is important to translate study finding into psychiatric and psychotherapeutic interventions and to implement these interventions into the health care system, one of the main actors in child protection. To establish and improve early targeted interventions, evaluation of ELS effects in pediatric study samples is needed. In future medicine, underlying biological correlates may allow identification of children at increased risk for stress-related adverse health outcomes later in life such as ageing-related diseases and mortality that are consistently shown to be associated with stress exposure (Brown et al., 2009; Druss et al., 2011; Eriksson et al., 2014; Kelly-Irving et al., 2013; Walker et al., 2015).

For instance, in individuals that have been exposed to ELS or suffer from psychiatric disorders epidemiological studies demonstrated higher prevalence rates of ageing-related diseases including cardiovascular diseases (Eriksson et al., 2014). These studies showed that psychiatric disorders are associated with a mortality rate that is over twice as high and occurs on average 10 years earlier as in individuals without psychiatric disorders. Rather than unnatural deaths the majority (>67 %) of deaths in individuals with psychiatric disorders is due to diseases associated with ageing (Druss et al., 2011; Walker et al., 2015). Moreover, ageing-related diseases may become an immense burden for future health care systems as it is estimated that the proportion of people worldwide aged 60 years and older will have doubled by 2050 (United Nations, 2019). Identification of early risk factors for ageing-related morbidity including ELS and its treatment therefore constitute global health concerns.

1.2 Biological ageing as potential risk indicator for ageing-related diseases

Increased risk for ageing-related diseases and excess mortality rate in individuals suffering from psychiatric disorders is believed to be mediated by accelerated biological ageing (Danese & McEwen, 2012; Gassen et al., 2017). Acceleration of biological ageing may reflect a premature onset of deficient molecular processes naturally emerging with increasing chronological age including accumulation of DNA damage and cell deaths as well as defects in cellular functions and DNA repair mechanisms.

Acceleration of biological ageing early in life, however, may be a warning signal for increased disease risk later in life. To identify incongruencies between chronological ageing and biological ageing researchers developed indicators for biological age estimation and, long before, clock makers facilitated chronological age estimation.

There are two commonly applied indicators for biological age estimation including epigenetic age and DNA telomere shortening. For the latter, biological ageing is mirrored by natural attrition of telomeres, the protective caps at the end of a chromosome, as with each cell division the length of telomeres decreases. Excessive telomere shortening (i.e., accelerated biological ageing) has been evidenced for various adult psychiatric disorders (Darrow et al., 2016). The other widely applied and valid measure for biological age is the epigenetic clock enabling epigenetic age estimation (Hannum et al., 2013; Horvath, 2013).

1.3 Biological age determination: Epigenetic age and epigenetic ageing

The epigenome allows us to derive new information from our DNA instead of only reading the genetic code itself. The enzyme methyltransferase attaches methyl groups to cytosine nucleotides forming methyl cytosine at cytosine-phosphate-guanine (CpG) sites. Methyl groups can hinder reading the genetic code and thereby DNA methylation is a mechanism for gene regulation without changing the genome.

It has been found that certain CpG sites become either hypermethylated or hypomethylated with increasing chronological age (see Figure 1). The conglomerate of all CpG sites whose DNA methylation significantly correlates with chronological age is referred to as epigenetic clock.

Hannum et al. (2013) firstly provided a method to determine an individual's epigenetic age in blood whereas Horvath (2013) followed with his method of determining epigenetic age in multiple tissues. This method provides an algorithm resulting from an elastic net regression analysis that computed population-based regression coefficients carrying the information on to which extend the DNA methylation status of each CpG site of the genome significantly contributed to the prediction of an individual's chronological age. Epigenetic age estimation in study samples is subsequently enabled by measuring the percentage of DNA methylation across multiple tissues at each CpG site of the epigenetic clock. The percentages of DNA methylation for the respective CpG sites are then entered as scores and the population-based weighted regression

coefficients as factors into regression formula to estimate an individual's epigenetic age. The pace of epigenetic ageing is computed by putting the estimated epigenetic age in relation to an individual's chronological age. If an individual's epigenetic age exceeds its chronological age accelerated epigenetic ageing is exhibited. Deceleration of epigenetic ageing is indicated if the epigenetic age is lower than an individual's chronological age.



Figure 1. Empirically identified CpG sites of the DNA show either an increase or decrease in DNA methylation with increasing chronological age (Figure modified from Figure 6 in Hannum et al. [2013]).

1.4 Accelerated epigenetic ageing and risk for pathogenesis

Several studies reported associations of accelerated epigenetic ageing with ageing-related morbidity including increased obesity risk, ischemic strokes, diabetes, dementia, cardiovascular disease, and overall mortality (Fransquet et al., 2019; Horvath et al., 2014; Nevalainen et al., 2017; Perna et al., 2016). For instance, using blood samples of over 1800 individuals Perna et al. (2016) found a by 19, 22 and 23% increased risk for cardiovascular-related mortality, cancer-related mortality and all-cause mortality, respectively, per 5 years associated with accelerated epigenetic ageing. Another study using whole blood samples of 86 elderly twins found an over 2-

fold increased mortality risk for the twin with the oldest epigenetic age (Christiansen et al., 2016). As suggested by this finding in twins the influence of non-genetic risk (i.e. environmental) factors may play a crucial role for accelerated epigenetic ageing and associated adverse health outcomes. In fact, accelerated epigenetic ageing has been shown to be 100% heritable in a sample of newborns, but only 39% heritable when determined in on average 63-year-old individuals (Horvath, 2013).

A few studies in children have shown that specific manifestations of ELS had an impact on the pace of epigenetic ageing. Children aged 6 to 16 years that have experienced neighborhood violence, but not children who witnessed neighborhood violence, exhibited accelerated epigenetic ageing as measured in saliva (Jovanovic et al., 2017). Similar results using saliva samples were found by Sumner et al. (2019) showing that threat-related experiences such as violence, but not experiences of deprivation such as physical or emotional neglect predicted accelerated epigenetic ageing in 8 to 16 years old children and adolescents. Further, studies using blood samples found that ELS in terms of financial hardship of households accelerated epigenetic ageing in 7-year-old children (Marini et al., 2020) and early-life socioeconomic disadvantage was associated with accelerated epigenetic ageing later in life (Austin et al., 2018).

Another form of stress exposure that impacts on epigenetic ageing is suffering from psychiatric disorders. Various studies in adults reported associations between accelerated epigenetic ageing as determined across multiple tissues including blood, postmortem brain tissue and buccal cells in adult samples and psychiatric disorders. Important work and evidence was demonstrated for major depression (Han et al., 2018), bipolar disorder (Fries et al., 2017) and posttraumatic stress symptoms including arousal, avoidance and numbing (Shenk et al., 2021; Wolf et al., 2019) accelerating epigenetic ageing. One study found accelerated epigenetic ageing to be associated with internalizing symptoms, but not externalizing symptoms in buccal cells of 148 children (Tollenaar et al., 2021).

However, the range of influence of stress-related risk factors contributing to accelerated epigenetic ageing is still not fully evaluated and the majority of studies examined psychiatric disorders separately from early-life trauma without integrating these factors in one model for epigenetic ageing prediction, although both factors are known to intertwine in the prediction biological alterations following stress exposure (Carpenter et al., 2004; Danese et al., 2008; Heim et al., 2008; Heim et al., 2001).

A study in adults conducted by Han et al. (2018) addressed additive effects of early-life trauma showing that higher self-reported questionnaire scores for early-life trauma severity augmented acceleration of epigenetic ageing in individuals with major depressive disorder (Han et al., 2018).

Previously, studies have demonstrated the existence of biological subtypes of depression as a function of ELS exposure associating with elevated levels of inflammatory parameters such as C-reactive protein (CRP; Danese et al., 2008) or increased concentrations of stress hormones including cortisol in individuals with depression and ELS exposure, but not in individuals with depression without ELS exposure (Carpenter et al., 2004; Heim et al., 2008; Heim et al., 2001; Heim et al., 2000). Such biological subtypes of depression could therefore exist for stress-related accelerated epigenetic ageing and potentially promote the development of ageing-related diseases and premature mortality. Identification of accelerated epigenetic ageing early in life would potentially increase chances for successful implementation of interventions.

1.5 Development of the PedBE clock for epigenetic age estimation in children

All previous studies in children applying epigenetic age estimation relied on epigenetic clocks that were designed and validated in studies with adults and thus hold a systematic methodological uncertainty. Furthermore, using epigenetic clock validated in adult samples neglects that the rate of DNA methylation changes is up to 4-fold higher in children compared to adults (Alisch et al., 2012). Hence, the application of epigenetic clocks validated in pediatric samples is critically needed for valid results.

The PedBE clock (McEwen et al., 2020) uses information on DNA methylation determined in buccal cells in saliva and was developed in a sample of 1032 children and further validated in an independent sample of 689 children both including preschool-aged children (see Figure 2). McEwen et al. (2020) identified 94 CpG sites to be significantly correlated with chronological age in childhood. Fifty CpG sites showed an increase and 44 CpG sites showed a decrease in DNA methylation with increasing chronological age. They further reported higher reliability of the PedBE clock for epigenetic age estimation in children than the commonly used Horvath's clock. The novel PedBE clock thereby enabled enhanced study methods for ageing research in children.



Figure 2. Development and validation of the PedBE clock (Figure modified from Figure 2 in Hannum et al. [2013] and adapted from Figure 1 in McEwen et al. [2020]).

1.6 Study aims

The current study had 5 aims to investigate the relationship between epigenetic ageing and stress in children aged 3 to 5 years. For this purpose,

1) mean epigenetic ageing was compared between children with current and without current internalizing disorder and

2) externalizing disorder was considered as a second main factor and in interaction with internalizing disorder in a further step.

3) Maltreatment exposure was evaluated as moderator in the relationship between epigenetic ageing and internalizing disorder.

4) Biological markers of stress including cortisol and CRP concentrations and their associations with epigenetic ageing were examined within groups of children at differential risk for accelerated epigenetic ageing (i.e., internalizing disorder [yes/no] x maltreatment exposure [yes/no]). Additionally,

5) the set of PedBE clock CpG sites was tested for an enrichment of glucocorticoid-responsive CpG sites in an independent sample and 6) glucocorticoid-responsive CpG sites were lastly compared for differences in DNA methylation between groups of children at differential risk for accelerated epigenetic ageing (internalizing disorder [yes/no] x maltreatment exposure [yes/no]).

2 Methods

The current investigation analyzed cross-sectional data collected from the Berlin Longitudinal Children Study (BerlinLCS) at first study visit (T0). BerlinLCS aimed to examine the immediate biological embedding of maltreatment in children and included an index group of children with verified maltreatment exposure that occurred 6 months prior to the first study visit who were recruited in cooperation with child protection services in Berlin. Study participants from the BerlinLCS control group included children that have not been exposed to any form of maltreatment according to the caretaker. Of all children in the Berlin LCS sample at T0 (N=173) 168 children had complete data for epigenetic age estimation. Due to incomplete data on clinical status in 10 children analyses were carried out in a sample of 158 children. Eighty-five children of the total sample were male, and 73 children were female. Children from the total sample were aged 3 to 5 years and on average 4.25 years old with a standard deviation of 0.8 years.

As outlined in Dammering et al. (2021) chronic medical disease, current medication, neurodevelopmental disorders and disability, psychosis, chronic illness of a caretaker, and parents under the age of 18 years were general exclusion criteria. All procedures adhered to the Declaration of Helsinki and were approved by the ethics committee of Charité – Universitätsmedizin Berlin. Children gave assent and were rewarded with a non-monetary gift for participation while informed consent was obtained from caretakers, who received monetary compensation. Caretakers received psychological and medical reports for their children as well as referrals for psychotherapy or medical treatment, if indicated. Study procedures were conducted at Neurowissenschaftliches Forschungszentrum of the Charité-Universitätsmedizin Berlin (Dammering et al., 2021).

2.1 Operationalization of ELS: Maltreatment Classification

First, each child was screened for signs of physical maltreatment (e.g., bruises, scratches) by a study physician. Maltreatment categories were assessed for each child by applying the Interview for Classification of Maltreatment (Cicchetti et al., 2003; German: Horlich et al., 2014a; Horlich et al., 2014b), a structured interview with the caretaker about the child, and classified with the Maltreatment Classification System

(MCS; Barnett et al., 1993; German: Horlich et al., 2014a; Horlich et al., 2014b). In the current study, 81 children were classified as maltreatment cases.

The complete list of maltreatment categories that were classified in the current study includes sexual maltreatment, emotional and physical maltreatment, physical neglect due to lack of supervision or physical neglect due to failure to provide, educational neglect, and moral-legal neglect. For the current study, a sum score was computed showing the number maltreatment categories each child has been exposed to (Dammering et al., 2021).

2.2 Operationalization of ELS: Psychiatric Assessment

Structured diagnostic interviews were conducted with caretakers to assess psychiatric disorders in children according to DSM-IV. Interview-based raw values were entered into the electronic version of the Preschool Age Psychiatric Assessment (PAPA; Egger & Angold, 2004). The PAPA is tailored for capturing pediatric expression of psychopathology. Internalizing disorders as well as externalizing disorders were coded. Internalizing disorder included dysthymia, major depression, selective mutism, social anxiety disorder, specific phobias, and general anxiety disorder (Dammering et al., 2021). Conduct disorder, attention-deficit-hyperactivity disorder as well as oppositional defiant disorder were coded as externalizing disorders for the current study.

2.3 Biological stress markers: Saliva Samples

Saliva samples constitute a non-invasive alternative for blood samples to measure inflammation and glucocorticoid concentrations in pediatric samples. Several studies have shown that cortisol as well as CRP concentrations in saliva moderately to strongly associate with those in blood plasma (EI-Farhan et al., 2017; Ouellet-Morin et al., 2011; Out et al., 2012; Thomasson et al., 2010) and the PedBE clock was validated for buccal samples (McEwen et al., 2020).

Saliva for cortisol and CRP sampling was collected at 9 a.m., 10 a.m. and 11 a.m. using Salimetrics oral swabs suitable for children and were subcooled to -80 °C after sampling. Cortisol concentrations were assessed using a Salimetrics ELISA kit with 0.007 µg/dL sensitivity. Intra-assay variability was 7% and inter-assay variability

was 11%. Cortisol concentrations were reflected by the area under the curve with respect to ground (AUCg).

CRP concentration was measured at 11 a.m. with Salimetrics <u>ELISA</u> kits and with 10 pg/ml sensitivity. Intra-assay variability was 6% and inter-assay variability was 13%. CRP values were log-transformed as assumption of normal distribution was violated and to adjust for outliers.

2.4 Epigenetic age: DNA Methylation in Saliva

[The following section was generated in collaboration with Jade Martins and Elisabeth Binder for Dammering et al. (2021)]: DNA was extracted from saliva samples that were collected with the ORAgene DNA kits (OG500) at 9 a.m. at study visit. PerkinElmer Chemagic360 system was used for a standardized procedure based on magnetic beads to extract DNA from 2 × 400 µl saliva. Methylation status at CpG sites was determined with the Infinium Methylation EPIC BeadChip (Illumina Inc, San Diego, CA, USA). Confounding effects of age, biological sex as well as of maltreatment exposure status were addressed by randomization of samples and hybridization as well as array processing. Normalization of the data was performed with the minfi package (Aryee et al., 2014). Empirical Bayes' method ComBat (Muller et al., 2016) performed with the sva R package (Leek et al., 2012) was applied for identification and removal of batch effects. Further CpG sites located on the X or Y chromosome and probes that were polymorphic or cross-reactive were removed (Chen et al., 2013; Pidsley et al., 2016). Samples with a significance level of detection p > 0.01 in over 25% were filtered out. Eventually, 830,206 CpG sites remained after quality check.

2.5 Epigenetic age: Estimation and epigenetic ageing computation

The R code-based algorithm is available online for public use: https://github.com/kobor-lab/Public-Scripts/blob/master/PedBE.Md.

PedBE clock algorithm was applied as described in McEwen et al. (2020). Validity of the PedBE clock algorithm was tested in the current sample, albeit the BerlinLCS sample was specifically recruited for maltreatment vs. no maltreatment exposure and thus not representative for the general population. Pearson's correlation between epigenetic age, as determined with the PedBE clock, and chronological age yielded a correlation coefficient of r = 0.75 (p < 0.001; see Figure 3).

Regression of epigenetic age against chronological age yielded standardized residuals that were saved as new variable reflecting the deviation between chronological and epigenetic age or in other words epigenetic ageing for each child. Residuals with a value below zero indicated deceleration of epigenetic ageing and residuals with a value above zero indicated acceleration of epigenetic ageing. The current study additionally ran univariate analyses of covariances (ANCOVA) and moderation analysis with unstandardized values for residuals to generate ageing deviation values in months aiding interpretation of results (Dammering et al., 2021).



Figure 3. Correlation of PedBE clock-estimated epigenetic age and chronological age (r = 0.75, p < 0.001; Figure adapted from Figure 1 in Dammering et al. [2021]).

2.6 Gene set enrichment for glucocorticoid responsiveness of the PedBE clock

[The following section was generated in collaboration with Jade Martins and Elisabeth Binder for Dammering et al. (2021)]: The gene set enrichment analysis in the current study aimed to test whether there are CpG sites within the PedBE clock that show DNA methylation changes after exposure to glucocorticoids and if the number of glucocorticoid responsive CpG sites is higher than would be expected in the gene set. This analysis was performed in an independent sample consisting of 113 adult individuals (Max Planck Institute of Psychiatry [MPIP] cohort). The MPIP cohort is further described in Provencal et al. (2020). In the MPIP cohort, DNA methylation was determined using genome-wide Illumina HumanMethylation450 BeadChips in peripheral blood. Differences in DNA methylation of CpG sites before and three hours after 1.5 mg dexamethasone administration were assessed (FDR-corrected p value of 0.10) identifying 23,031 CpG sites with differential methylation after treatment (Provencal et al., 2020).

2.7 Statistical analysis

2.7.1 Epigenetic ageing and ELS

As described in Dammering et al. (2021) mean epigenetic ageing was compared between children with and without internalizing disorder by applying univariate ANCOVA to adjust comparison for covariates. Subsequently, externalizing disorder was included into the model to test for externalizing disorder effects and potential interaction effects of internalizing disorder with externalizing disorder on epigenetic ageing.

Whether maltreatment exposure contributes to the relationship between epigenetic ageing and psychopathology was tested with a moderation model using the PROCESS macro (Hayes, 2017) where the number of maltreatment categories was the moderator and internalizing disorder the predictor of epigenetic ageing. All variables were mean centered for the ordinary least square (OLS) regression in the moderation analysis. This step aided the interpretation of regression coefficients. The moderation model yielded an interaction term that allowed for subsequent simple slope analysis of the moderation effect (Hayes & Rockwood, 2017). The three levels of the moderator were used to probe the interaction yielding simple slopes for no maltreatment exposure (value = 0), for one to two experienced maltreatment categories (value = 1), and for three or more experienced maltreatment categories (value = 2). To probe the interaction values of the ageing residuals (\hat{Y}) at different levels of the interaction (*XW*) of internalizing disorder (*X*) and maltreatment severity (*W*) were computed. Values for *X* and *W* were obtained from variable coding (X = 0, X = 1 and W = 0, W = 1, W = 2) while the values of covariates (U_i) are set to their sample means. Representation of the weighted (b_i) effect of *X* on \hat{Y} as a linear function of the current total model is:

$$\hat{Y} = b_0 + b_1 X + b_2 W + b_3 X W + b_4 U_1 + b_5 U_2 + b_6 U_3 + b_7 U_4 + b_8 U_5 + b_9 U_6 + b_{10} U_7 + b_{11} U_8 + b_{12} U_9$$

The Davidson-MacKinnon heteroscedasticity-consistent standard error estimator was applied for OLS regression to augment validity and power of the model (Davidson & MacKinnon, 1993; Hayes & Cai, 2007).

To examine correlations between epigenetic ageing and stress-related biological markers including cortisol and CRP Pearson's correlational analyses were carried out across all children with complete biological data as well as separately in four groups of children stratified by current internalizing disorder (Yes/No) and maltreatment (Yes/No) status. Total sample sizes differed for cortisol (n = 136) and CRP (n = 147) due to cases with incomplete biological data and 9 cases had to be excluded due to current infection at study visit T0.

2.7.2 Covariates

Factors that have been shown to influence epigenetic ageing were included as covariates in statistical analyses including caregiver-reported sex, body mass index (BMI), and socioeconomic status (SES) as well as cell type composition, and genetic ethnicity (Austin et al., 2018; Horvath et al., 2016; Quach et al., 2017). During the study visit children received a standard medical examination by a study physician to determine health status and BMI. Further, self-reported sex was captured. Values between 1 and 7 for educational level, occupational status, and net income, respectively, were used to calculate a sum score (range 3 to 21) reflecting

SES (Lange et al., 2007). Genetic ethnicity was determined by examining the linkage disequilibrium with plink v1.9 (Chang et al., 2015) to subsequently compute principal component analysis yielding three principal components that reflected genetic ethnicity for each child. Accordingly, these three principal components were included into the analyses as three covariates. To determine cell type composition including buccal cells, <u>CD14</u>, CD34 in saliva the current study applied the <u>deconvolution</u> method (Smith et al., 2015).

SPSS 25.0 for Windows was applied to carry out statistical analyses with an alpha level of significance at p < 0.05 (Dammering et al., 2021).

2.7.3 Gene set enrichment analysis with dexamethasone within the PedBE clock

[The following section was generated in collaboration with Jade Martins and Elisabeth Binder for Dammering et al. (2021)]: Enriched glucocorticoid responsive CpG sites within the PedBE clock were assessed by administering dexamethasone and analyzed with Fisher's Exact test. Measurement was performed with the Illumina HumanMethylation450 BeadChip as background. In a last step, mean DNA methylation was compared between four groups of children distributed by current internalizing disorder (Yes/No) and maltreatment (Yes/No) status in all CpG sites that showed significant DNA methylation changes after dexamethasone administration. This last step was performed by applying univariate analysis of variances (Dammering et al., 2021).

3. Results

Descriptive statistics for characterization of the total sample are displayed in <u>Table 1</u>. Additionally, Table 1 contains separate characteristics for children with and without internalizing disorder with t-test comparisons. Chronological age, self-reported ethnicity, sex and <u>BMI</u> (all p > 0.05) were not significantly different between both groups. However, they differed significantly in SES with on average lower scores in in children with internalizing disorder (p < 0.001).

Chi-squared test revealed that there was a relatively higher number of maltreatment cases in children with internalizing disorder (χ^2 [2, N = 158] = 11.96, *p* = 0.003) indicating maltreatment exposure is associated with internalizing disorder (Dammering et al., 2021).

	Total (n=158)	Children without internalizing disorder (n=109)	Children with internalizing disorder (n=49)	p
Chronological age, years	4.25 (0.80)	4.27 (0.79)	4.18 (0.85)	0.507
Female sex	73 (46.20)	52 (47.70)	21 (42.90)	0.572
Self-reported ethnicity				0.296
White-Asian	3 (1.90)	3 (2.80)	0 (0)	
White-Black	11 (6.96)	6 (5.50)	5 (10.20)	
White	144 (91.14)	100 (91.70)	44 (89.80)	
Number of maltreatment categories				0.003
0	77 (48.70)	63 (57.80)	14 (28.60)	
1-2	55 (34.80)	30 (27.50)	25 (51.00)	
≥3	26 (16.50)	16 (14.70)	10 (20.40)	
SES	12.67 (5.21)	13.65 (5.00)	10.49 (5.03)	< 0.001
ВМІ	15.48 (1.16)	15.42 (1.07)	15.61 (1.35)	0.326

Table 1. *Statistics and sample characteristics* (Table adapted from Table 1 in Dammering et al. [2021]).

Note. Values are presented as mean (SD) or n (%).

3.1 Epigenetic ageing and psychopathology

The ANCOVA revealed a significant main effect of current internalizing disorder on epigenetic ageing indicating acceleration of epigenetic ageing (M = 0.29, SE = 0.13) in relation to children without internalizing disorder (M = -0.13, SE = 0.87, F_{1,147} = 6.67, *p* = 0.011; see Figure 4). The identical analysis with unstandardized residuals for epigenetic ageing showed that these results reflect an on average 1.87 months acceleration of epigenetic ageing in relation to chronological ageing. In the absence of current internalizing disorder children exhibited 0.84 months deceleration of epigenetic ageing shows 2.71 months (Dammering et al., 2021).

For the current study, a second ANCOVA model, where the role of externalizing disorder was examined, epigenetic ageing was the criterion and internalizing disorder as well as externalizing disorder were included as factors. Internalizing disorder as main factor remained significant ($F_{1,145} = 4.07$, p = 0.045) while neither the main effect of externalizing disorder ($F_{1,145} = 1.75$, p = 0.189) nor the interaction effect of externalizing disorder reached statistical significance ($F_{1,145} = 0.39$, p = 0.533).

Noteworthy, sex had a significant effect on epigenetic ageing in both ANCOVA models reported above ($F_{1,147} = 6.62$, p = 0.011 and $F_{1,145} = 7.07$, p = 0.009) indicating the female sex was associated with faster epigenetic ageing in the current sample of children. Hence, sex was entered as a second main factor in addition to the internalizing disorder factor within an ANCOVA model. Internalizing disorder ($F_{1,146} = 6.80$, p = 0.010) and sex ($F_{1,146} = 6.36$, p = 0.013) reached statistical significance as main effect, but the interaction effect of both was not significant ($F_{1,146} = 2.21$, p = 0.646). Hence, accelerated epigenetic ageing in children with internalizing disorder appeared to be independent from sex (Dammering et al., 2021).



Internalizing Disorder

Figure 4. Comparison of mean epigenetic ageing in children with and without internalizing disorder (Means and 95% CI error bars). Adjusted for cell composition, sex, genetic ethnicity, BMI, and SES. * p < 0.05 (Figure adapted from Figure 2 in Dammering et al. [2021])

3.2 Epigenetic ageing, psychopathology, and maltreatment

To further elaborate on the relationship between accelerated epigenetic ageing and ELS, a moderation model was applied to test for a potential contribution of maltreatment exposure within the association between epigenetic ageing and internalizing disorder. Severity of maltreatment, operationalized by the number of experienced maltreatment categories, was included as moderator variable into the moderation model where internalizing disorder predicted epigenetic ageing (see Table 2).

Seite 1

	b	SE	t	р
Constant	-14.82	6.74	-2.20	0.030
Current Internalizing Disorders	0.37	0.16	2.15	0.033
Number of Maltreatment Categories	0.18	0.15	1.23	0.222
Current Internalizing Disorders *	0.49	0.21	2.32	0.022
Number of Maltreatment Categories				

Table 2. *Linear model of predictors of epigenetic ageing* (Table adapted from Table 2 in Dammering et al. [2021]).

Note. Model was adjusted for cell type composition (buccal, CD14, CD34), sex, genetic ethnicity, BMI, and SES (Dammering et al., 2021).

The moderation model explained 27.5% of the variance in epigenetic ageing in the current sample (R^2 = .275, $F_{12,145}$ = 4.797, *p* < 0.001).

OLS regression analysis detected internalizing disorder significantly interact with the number of maltreatment categories in the prediction of epigenetic ageing (b = 0.49, 95% CI [0.073, 0.909], t = 2.322, p = 0.022) indicating that maltreatment severity contributes to accelerated epigenetic ageing in internalizing disorder. As expected, internalizing disorder significantly predicted accelerated epigenetic ageing (b = 0.34, 95% CI [0.027, 0.647], t = 2.149, p = 0.033). Intriguingly, the number of maltreatment categories had no significant effect on epigenetic ageing (b = 0.18, 95% CI [-0.110, 0.471], t = 1.228, p = 0.222). This means that internalizing disorder predicted acceleration of epigenetic ageing depending on the severity of maltreatment exposure and maltreatment exposure alone did not accelerate epigenetic ageing. Again, the covariate sex reached statistical significance in this model (b = -0.32, 95% CI [-0.628, -0.016], t = -2.083, p = 0.039) suggesting female sex predicted acceleration of epigenetic ageing. The moderating effect of maltreatment severity was unaffected by sex.

Simple slope analysis revealed that the interaction is characterized by maltreatment severity facilitating and gradually increasing the effect of internalizing disorder on epigenetic ageing (see Figure 3). On the one hand, in the absence of maltreatment exposure internalizing disorder did not predict accelerated epigenetic ageing and, on the other hand, in the absence current internalizing disorder

maltreatment exposure had no effect on epigenetic ageing (n = 77, b = 0.00, 95% CI [-0.436, 0.444], t = 0.019, p = 0.985). Instead, one or two experienced maltreatment categories showed an average of 3.19 months acceleration of epigenetic ageing in relation to chronological ageing in interaction with current internalizing disorder (n = 55, b = 0.50, 95% CI [0.170, 0.821], t = 3.008, p = 0.003). Furthermore, children exhibited on average 6.36 months acceleration of epigenetic ageing in relation to chronological ageing, if they had current internalizing disorder and have been exposed to three or more maltreatment categories (n = 26, b = 0.99, 95% CI [0.380, 1.593], t = 3.215, p = 0.002). Results mentioned above are also reported in Dammering et al. (2021).



Figure 5. Simple slope equations of interaction effect on epigenetic ageing. Adjusted for cell type composition, sex, genetic ethnicity, BMI, and SES. ** p < 0.01 (Figure adapted from Figure 3 in Dammering et al. [2021]).

3.3 Epigenetic ageing, Cortisol and CRP

Following up on the finding that accelerated epigenetic ageing was associated with internalizing disorder in dependence of maltreatment, the current study aimed to examine, whether stress-related biomarkers, i.e., cortisol and CRP, are correlated with epigenetic ageing across all children and in four groups of children at differential risk for accelerated epigenetic ageing (internalizing disorder [Yes/No] by maltreatment exposure [Yes/No]). Bivariate Pearson's correlation revealed that across all children epigenetic ageing was significantly associated with cortisol AUCg (r [136] = 0.20, p = 0.022), but not with CRP (r [147] = 0.09, p = 0.274). However, correlational analysis in separate groups showed that the overall correlation between epigenetic ageing and cortisol AUCg was likely driven by significant and higher correlations in children with both internalizing disorder and maltreatment exposure. In this group, accelerated epigenetic ageing was significantly associated with higher cortisol levels (r [32] = 0.36, p = 0.043) as well as with higher CRP levels (r [32] = 0.42, p = 0.016). Correlation coefficients neither reached statistical significance in non-maltreated children with internalizing disorder nor in children without internalizing disorder (Table 3).

			Pearson's correlation with Epigenetic Ageing	р
Total sample with complete		Cortisol AUCg (n=136)	0.20 *	0.022
biological data		CRP (n=147)	0.09	0.274
Children	Non-Maltreated	Cortisol AUCg (n=51)	-0.04	0.788
without		CRP (n=59)	-0.21	0.107
Disorder	Maltreated	Cortisol AUCg (n=41)	0.19	0.237
		CRP (n=44)	0.19	0.216
Children with	Non-Maltreated	Cortisol AUCg (n=12)	0.33	0.293
Internalizing	ng	CRP (n=12)	-0.26	0.406
DISOIDEI	Maltreated	Cortisol AUCg (n=32)	0.36 *	0.043
		CRP (n=32)	0.42 *	0.016

_								•								
	b	\sim	, ,	· · · · · · · ·	10+1000	- h h t	11/000	~~~~~~	20 ti 0	00000	~ ~ ~ ~	610		0 tro 0 0	mon	1000
	1 11		`	()//	1211/1/10	1101	1/1/0/07/		10111		1 2////	7 177 1		011000	111211	(Δ)
		5. 1			1611111111	1751	****	500050	15/16/	entenn			1 1 1 1	11/1 (21)11	1116117	1
	~					~~~				~~~~	,		0,9,000	00.000		
								, 0			,					

Note. * *p* < 0.05.

Noteworthy, neither mean cortisol levels ($F_{1,123} = 1.14$, p = 0.288) nor mean CRP levels ($F_{1,134} = 0.02$, p = 0.887) differed between the four groups. This means that acceleration epigenetic ageing in maltreated children with internalizing disorder was not explained by generally higher mean cortisol levels or mean CRP levels in this group.

3.4 Enriched dexamethasone responsive CpG sites within the PedBE clock

In a last step, the current study tested for an enrichment of CpG sites within the PedBE clock that show DNA methylation changes after administration of the artificial glucocorticoid dexamethasone. This analysis was carried out in the MPIP cohort, and independent sample of adults (Provencal et al., 2020). There was a significant higher number of CpG sites responsive to dexamethasone as would be expected in relation to the frequency of the total list of CpG sites (Fisher's Exact: $p = 1.65*10^{-6}$, Odds Ratio = 4.36). In detail, enrichment was reflected by 18 out of 94 CpG sites (19%) of the PedBE clock that were differently methylated following dexamethasone exposure. Additionally, there were individual differential methylation levels after adjustment for cell proportions (CD14, C34 and buccal cells) at the CpG site cg16618789 (F_{1,150} = 5.76, p = 0.018) and at the CpG site cg03493146 (F_{1,150} = 6.03, p = 0.015) for children with internalizing disorder and maltreatment exposure (adjusted results from Dammering et al., 2021).

4. Discussion

The current study is the first study that applied the PedBE clock in a clinical sample of children with maltreatment exposure and firstly tested the recently developed PedBE clock for glucocorticoid responsiveness with dexamethasone exposure. This study further expanded research on the relationship between epigenetic ageing and stress in preschool-aged children and integrated environmental and behavioral measures of stress in one prediction model for epigenetic ageing. In addition, this study investigated biological stress markers in relation to epigenetic ageing in groups of children that were observed to be at differential risk for accelerated epigenetic ageing.

4.1 Summary of results and embedding into current state of research

The current investigation demonstrated that internalizing disorder in children can accelerate epigenetic ageing. It further showed that the association between epigenetic ageing and psychopathology was specifically found for internalizing disorder as neither externalizing disorder alone nor in interaction with internalizing disorder was associated with epigenetic ageing in the current study sample. Thereby, these results in children aged 3 to 5 years replicated previous findings in older children aged 6 to 10 years demonstrating that accelerated epigenetic ageing was related to internalizing symptoms, but not externalizing symptoms (Tollenaar et al., 2021). Replication of findings by Tollenaar et al. (2021) was important as in their study epigenetic age in children was estimated with Horvath's epigenetic clock that was designed for adult samples. Further, the current finding is in line with study findings in adults identifying accelerated epigenetic ageing in individuals with depressive and posttraumatic stress symptoms (Fries et al., 2017; Han et al., 2018; Shenk et al., 2021; Wolf et al., 2019), adult psychopathological equivalents of pediatric internalizing disorder.

Maltreatment exposure was found to be a critical moderator in the relationship between epigenetic ageing and internalizing disorder. Depending on maltreatment status of children internalizing disorder had either no effect on epigenetic ageing or was gradually accelerating epigenetic ageing. Han et al. (2018) reported a comparable finding in adults aged on average 41 years showing that childhood trauma augmented epigenetic ageing acceleration in individuals with major depressive disorder. However, childhood trauma was assessed with retrospective questionnaire scores and data on childhood trauma in individuals without current major depressive disorder was missing making it difficult to disentangle effects of psychopathology and ELS exposure on epigenetic ageing. By including children with maltreatment exposure, but without internalizing disorder, the current study could generate an interaction term with internalizing disorder and maltreatment exposure. The significant interaction demonstrated the existence of distinct biological properties evolving in children who have been exposed to maltreatment and suffer from internalizing psychopathology. Biological subtypes of depression as a function of ELS such as child maltreatment have also been evidenced in previous studies reporting increased cortisol concentrations as well as elevated inflammation levels in individuals with both a history of maltreatment and current depression (Carpenter et al., 2004; Danese et al., 2008; Heim et al., 2008; Heim et al., 2001).

Moreover, at this young age of on average 4.25-year-old children in the current study the number of months of age acceleration is considerably high. Han et al. (2018) showed that adult patients with major depression were on average 7.68 months accelerated in epigenetic ageing reflecting an acceleration of 1.54% compared to healthy controls and based on the average age of 41.5 years of the total sample. The ageing deviation in the current study between children with internalizing disorder and children without internalizing disorder was 2.71 months corresponding to a 5.31% acceleration based on their average age of 4.25 years. The maximum of epigenetic ageing acceleration found in the current study (6.36 months) equals an acceleration of 12.47% based on the average age of the total sample.

Girls were overall epigenetically older than boys in all statistical models. The literature on sex differences regarding epigenetic ageing is divergent and not fully fathomed (Horvath et al., 2016; Simpkin et al., 2016; Tang et al., 2020). Intriguing findings are reported by Yusipov et al. (2020) showing age-by-sex-dependent DNA methylation in adults. For instance, one CpG site was hypomethylated in males compared to females and exhibited hypomethylation with increasing age, while another CpG site was hypomethylated in males compared to females and exhibited age (Yusipov et al., 2020). However, stress-related accelerated epigenetic ageing as examined in the current study was independent from sex and chronological age effects.

Epigenetic ageing correlated with cortisol across all children with complete biological data. Intriguingly, when calculated in separate groups both higher cortisol and higher CRP concentrations were associated with acceleration of epigenetic ageing exclusively in children with internalizing disorder and maltreatment exposure, but neither in non-maltreated children with internalizing disorder nor in children without internalizing disorder. Previous studies reported mixed findings showing significant and null associations between glucocorticoids or inflammation and epigenetic ageing. For instance, diurnal cortisol concentration was associated with accelerated epigenetic ageing in 46 adolescent girls (Davis et al., 2017) while a study in 974 adolescent individuals found no association between cortisol and epigenetic ageing (Tang et al., 2020). Inconsistent study results have also been reported for CRP and epigenetic ageing (Irvin et al., 2018; Quach et al., 2017; Stevenson et al., 2018). In this regard, an important additional finding of the current study demonstrated direct evidence that administration of glucocorticoids in an independent sample led to DNA methylation changes at CpG sites that are included in the PedBE clock. Highly significant enrichment of glucocorticoid responsive CpG sites suggested that pediatric epigenetic ageing is susceptible for glucocorticoids. Moreover, 2 out of 18 dexamethasone responsive CpG sites of the PedBE exhibited different DNA methylation in children with internalizing disorder and maltreatment exposure.

4.2 Interpretation of results

For the current finding that particularly internalizing disorder, but not externalizing disorder, associates with accelerated epigenetic ageing a psychodynamic perspective on results was considered to aid interpretation. Internalizing psychopathology is characterized to be directed towards an individual's 'inside' (i.e., psychological self-punishment, feelings of guilt), while externalizing behavior is directed towards an individual's outside environment reflecting behaviors such as an outburst of anger or physically harmful behavior. It is conceivable that externalizing psychopathology could therefore be used as coping mechanism to relieve anger and fear, or in other words, functions as release for internal stress. However, externalizing behavior often involves psychodynamic defense mechanisms at the expense of others.

Biological alterations as observed in the current study in the form of accelerated epigenetic ageing occurred as prediction by the interaction of maltreatment exposure and concomitant internalizing disorder. Maltreatment exposure means acute or chronic stress exposure that may have sensitized biological systems potentially leading to reduced stress resilience in children that exhibited accelerated epigenetic ageing. In other words, experiencing maltreatment could have demolished the protective shield in respective children making it easier to exert influence on what is behind the shield. This perspective is supported by the current findings that only in the group of maltreated children with internalizing disorder increasing cortisol levels as well as increasing CRP levels were associated with accelerating epigenetic ageing. Moreover, cortisol and CRP concentrations did not differ between the four groups of children suggesting that acceleration of epigenetic ageing in maltreated children with internalizing disorder was not explained by generally elevated cortisol and CRP concentrations.

However, as the current investigation had a cross-sectional and not a longitudinal study design, an alternative explanation for the observed interaction could be that children with accelerated epigenetic ageing carried a double burden of experiencing maltreatment and suffering from internalizing disorder resulting in excessive stress opening the door for increased biological susceptibility.

Albeit it is conceivable that increasing cortisol and CRP levels in children with maltreatment exposure and internalizing disorder contributed to accelerated epigenetic ageing, little is known about key mechanisms linking stress biology and epigenetic ageing. With respect to glucocorticoids it has been proposed that cortisol acts on epigenetic aging through activated glucocorticoid receptors entailing intracellular processes involving downregulation of DNA methyltransferase 1 (DNMT1) – an enzyme that catalyzes methylation of CpG sites of genomic DNA, as well as upregulation of FK506 – binding protein 51 levels that, in turn, further inhibits DNMT1 activity eventually leading to DNA methylation changes and advanced epigenetic ageing (Gassen et al., 2017). However, other physiological processes involved in cellular stress responses could explain accelerated epigenetic ageing additively.

[The following conclusion was developed in collaboration with Sonja Entringer and Christine Heim for Dammering et al. (2021)]: The current finding that girls were generally epigenetically older than boys is difficult to interpret as previous findings in animals reported that sex differences in epigenetic ageing may in part be mediated by sex hormones (Sugrue et al., 2021). In the current study, however, children were prepubertal and circulating concentrations of sex hormones are very low. A recent study in the BerlinLCS sample found that particularly maltreated girls, but not boys or nonmaltreated girls showed increased levels of CRP (Entringer et al., 2020). Increased inflammation in girls may have contributed to the observed sex difference, although maltreatment in interaction with sex did not predict epigenetic ageing in the current study.

[The following conclusion was developed in collaboration with Christine Heim for Dammering et al. (2021)]: In general, a faster pace of an individual's epigenetic clock during childhood could imply faster maturation following early adversity and threat experiences to evoke an earlier onset of puberty ensuring reproduction and survival in an unsafe environment (Ellis & Del Giudice, 2019). Rapid developmental pace may be beneficial for survival, but may also hamper qualitative aspects of maturation potentially leading to 'maturation gaps' and thereby promote increased morbidity later in life (Belsky et al., 2015)

4.3 Outlook

Future research on epigenetic ageing in children as well as in adults may benefit from considering differential vulnerabilities for adverse effects following stress exposure. For instance, stress-related biological correlates of epigenetic ageing should be examined by considering various forms of ELS such as maltreatment and pediatric psychopathology. On that note, there is a need for longitudinal observations of children at increased risk for accelerated epigenetic ageing.

To further elucidate sex differences in epigenetic ageing before puberty, it may be of interest to examine pre-pubertal sex steroid concentrations. For that, studies should apply sensitive methods to measure low concentrations of circulating estrogenic and androgenic hormones as, for instance, outlined by Courant et al. (2010).

On the flipside, it is important to examine factors that can buffer epigenetic age acceleration to not only identify indicators for increased risk but for increased resilience as well. In fact, a small number of studies found factors that were associated with deceleration of epigenetic ageing. For instance, nutritional factors such as fish intake or higher education levels were associated with decelerated epigenetic ageing in adults (Quach et al., 2017). In view of ELS, decelerated epigenetic ageing was found in juveniles receiving family support services after racial discrimination compared to racially discriminated juveniles without help (Brody et al., 2016). Further, a study in

meditators showed that increasing years of meditation practice associated with a slower pace of the epigenetic clock (Chaix et al., 2017). Researchers should build up on these promising findings of ageing decelerating effects by including psychotherapeutic interventions in future studies and progressively contrast epigenetic ageing in individuals receiving psychotherapeutic treatment with epigenetic ageing in individuals who do not receive psychotherapy.

4.4 Strengths and weaknesses of the study

This is the first study applying the PedBE clock for epigenetic age estimation in a clinical sample of children strengthening reliability and validity of the current study results. Another strength is the in-depth assessment of psychopathology and maltreatment experiences in children aged 3 to 5 years. Psychiatric disorders were assessed with profound clinician-administered diagnostic interviews suitable for expression of psychopathology in preschool-aged children. Due to recruitment strategies maltreatment exposure was highly prevalent in the current sample facilitating stratified analyses as well as examination of biological correlates of epigenetic ageing of different risk groups.

Factors limiting the validity of the current study results include the relatively small sample size and the cross-sectional design. Thus, mediation models including longitudinal study designs that would have made causal conclusions possible were not applicable in the current study. With regard on the correlation between epigenetic ageing and cortisol as well as with CRP, the current findings must be interpreted with caution as this analysis was carried out in subsamples with low sample sizes. Longitudinal multi-modal study approaches with bigger sample sizes are needed to tackle these limitations.

5. Conclusions

In conclusion, the current study supported and extended previous work of researchers demonstrating that there is a subtype of psychiatric disorders that manifests in relation to severe stress exposure such as maltreatment and has distinct biological features. Importantly, this biological subtype, as reflected by accelerated epigenetic ageing, is identifiable as early as at the age of 3 to 5 years. Furthermore, stress exposure appears to have a greater impact on epigenetic ageing in preschool-aged children than in adults as outlined in section 4.1.

Additionally, the current findings consolidated the association of epigenetic ageing to environmental, behavioral, and biological stress. Accelerated epigenetic ageing may therefore depict a relevant indicator for stress exposure and disease risk and may as well function as measure of success for stress-targeting treatment such as psychotherapy.

The article "The battered child syndrome" (Kempe et al., 1962) first sparked research on the somatic and psychiatric consequences of child maltreatment. Child maltreatment is a highly prevalent symptom of our society. However, detection of cases is difficult as children rarely attempt to gain a hearing due to feelings of loyalty towards caretakers or feelings of shame.

In their article, Kempe et al. (1962) postulated that there is

"a duty and responsibility to the child to require a full evaluation of the problem and to guarantee that no expected repetition of trauma will be permitted to occur." (Kempe et al., 1962).

The current study aimed to do so while underscoring the need for targeted health care interventions that prevent disease associated with stress as well as promote health throughout life eventually leading to healthy ageing.

Reference list

- Alisch, R. S., Barwick, B. G., Chopra, P., Myrick, L. K., Satten, G. A., Conneely, K. N., & Warren, S. T. (2012). Age-associated DNA methylation in pediatric populations. *Genome Res*, 22(4), 623-632. https://doi.org/10.1101/gr.125187.111.
- Aryee, M. J., Jaffe, A. E., Corrada-Bravo, H., Ladd-Acosta, C., Feinberg, A. P., Hansen,
 K. D., & Irizarry, R. A. (2014). Minfi: a flexible and comprehensive Bioconductor
 package for the analysis of Infinium DNA methylation microarrays. *Bioinformatics*, *30*(10), 1363-1369. https://doi.org/10.1093/bioinformatics/btu049.
- Austin, M. K., Chen, E., Ross, K. M., McEwen, L. M., MacIsaac, J. L., Kobor, M. S., & Miller, G. E. (2018). Early-life socioeconomic disadvantage, not current, predicts accelerated epigenetic aging of monocytes. *Psychoneuroendocrinology*, 97, 131-134. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psyneuen.2018.07.007.
- Barnett, T. G., Logan, J. G., & Paterson, J. M. (1993). Defining child maltreatment: the interface between policy and research. In D. Cicchetti & S. L. Toth (Eds.), *Child Abuse, Child Development, and Social Policy* (pp. 7-73). Ablex.
- Belsky, J., Ruttle, P. L., Boyce, W. T., Armstrong, J. M., & Essex, M. J. (2015). Early adversity, elevated stress physiology, accelerated sexual maturation, and poor health in females. *Dev Psychol*, *51*(6), 816-822. https://doi.org/10.1037/dev0000017.
- Brody, G. H., Miller, G. E., Yu, T., Beach, S. R., & Chen, E. (2016). Supportive Family Environments Ameliorate the Link Between Racial Discrimination and Epigenetic Aging: A Replication Across Two Longitudinal Cohorts. *Psychol Sci*, 27(4), 530-541. https://doi.org/10.1177/0956797615626703.
- Brown, D. W., Anda, R. F., Tiemeier, H., Felitti, V. J., Edwards, V. J., Croft, J. B., & Giles, W. H. (2009). Adverse childhood experiences and the risk of premature mortality. *Am J Prev Med*, 37(5), 389-396.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.amepre.2009.06.021
- Carpenter, L. L., Tyrka, A. R., McDougle, C. J., Malison, R. T., Owens, M. J., Nemeroff, C. B., & Price, L. H. (2004). Cerebrospinal fluid corticotropin-releasing factor and perceived early-life stress in depressed patients and healthy control subjects. *Neuropsychopharmacology*, 29(4), 777-784. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.npp.1300375.

- Chaix, R., Alvarez-Lopez, M. J., Fagny, M., Lemee, L., Regnault, B., Davidson, R. J., Lutz, A., & Kaliman, P. (2017). Epigenetic clock analysis in long-term meditators. *Psychoneuroendocrinology*, *85*, 210-214. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psyneuen.2017.08.016.
- Chang, C. C., Chow, C. C., Tellier, L. C., Vattikuti, S., Purcell, S. M., & Lee, J. J. (2015). Second-generation PLINK: rising to the challenge of larger and richer datasets. *Gigascience*, *4*, 7. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13742-015-0047-8.
- Chen, Y. A., Lemire, M., Choufani, S., Butcher, D. T., Grafodatskaya, D., Zanke, B. W., Gallinger, S., Hudson, T. J., & Weksberg, R. (2013). Discovery of cross-reactive probes and polymorphic CpGs in the Illumina Infinium HumanMethylation450 microarray. *Epigenetics*, 8(2), 203-209. https://doi.org/10.4161/epi.23470.
- Christiansen, L., Lenart, A., Tan, Q., Vaupel, J. W., Aviv, A., McGue, M., & Christensen,
 K. (2016). DNA methylation age is associated with mortality in a longitudinal
 Danish twin study. *Aging Cell*, *15*(1), 149-154.
 https://doi.org/10.1111/acel.12421.
- Cicchetti, D., Toth, S., & Manly, J. (2003). Maternal maltreatment classification interview. *Unpublished manuscript, Mt. Hope Family Center, Rochester, NY*.
- Courant, F., Aksglaede, L., Antignac, J. P., Monteau, F., Sorensen, K., Andersson, A.
 M., Skakkebaek, N. E., Juul, A., & Bizec, B. L. (2010). Assessment of circulating sex steroid levels in prepubertal and pubertal boys and girls by a novel ultrasensitive gas chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry method. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab*, 95(1), 82-92. https://doi.org/10.1210/jc.2009-1140.
- Dammering, F., Martins, J., Dittrich, K., Czamara, D., Rex-Haffner, M., Overfeld, J., de Punder, K., Buss, C., Entringer, S., Winter, S. M., Binder, E. B., & Heim, C. (2021). The pediatric buccal epigenetic clock identifies significant ageing acceleration in children with internalizing disorder and maltreatment exposure. *Neurobiol Stress*, *15*, 100394. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ynstr.2021.100394.
- Danese, A., & McEwen, B. S. (2012). Adverse childhood experiences, allostasis, allostatic load, and age-related disease. *Physiol Behav*, *106*(1), 29-39. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.physbeh.2011.08.019.
- Danese, A., Moffitt, T. E., Pariante, C. M., Ambler, A., Poulton, R., & Caspi, A. (2008).
 Elevated inflammation levels in depressed adults with a history of childhood maltreatment. *Arch Gen Psychiatry*, 65(4), 409-415.
 https://doi.org/10.1001/archpsyc.65.4.409.

- Darrow, S. M., Verhoeven, J. E., Revesz, D., Lindqvist, D., Penninx, B. W. J. H.,
 Delucchi, K. L., Wolkowitz, O. M., & Mathews, C. A. (2016). The Association
 Between Psychiatric Disorders and Telomere Length: A Meta-Analysis Involving
 14,827 Persons. *Psychosomatic Medicine*, *78*(7), 776-787.
 https://doi.org/10.1097/Psy.0000000000356.
- Davidson, R., & MacKinnon, J. (1993). *Estimation and Inference in Econometrics*. Oxford University Press. https://EconPapers.repec.org/RePEc:oxp:obooks:9780195060119.
- Davis, E. G., Humphreys, K. L., McEwen, L. M., Sacchet, M. D., Camacho, M. C., MacIsaac, J. L., Lin, D. T. S., Kobor, M. S., & Gotlib, I. H. (2017). Accelerated DNA methylation age in adolescent girls: associations with elevated diurnal cortisol and reduced hippocampal volume. *Transl Psychiatry*, 7(8), e1223. https://doi.org/10.1038/tp.2017.188.
- Druss, B. G., Zhao, L., Von Esenwein, S., Morrato, E. H., & Marcus, S. C. (2011). Understanding excess mortality in persons with mental illness: 17-year follow up of a nationally representative US survey. *Med Care*, *49*(6), 599-604. https://doi.org/10.1097/MLR.0b013e31820bf86e.
- Egger, H. L., & Angold, A. (2004). The Preschool Age Psychiatric Assessment (PAPA): A structured parent interview for diagnosing psychiatric disorders in preschool children. In R. Delcarmen-Wiggins & A. Carter (Eds.), *Handbook of infant, toddler, and preschool mental health assessment.* Oxford University Press.
- El-Farhan, N., Rees, D. A., & Evans, C. (2017). Measuring cortisol in serum, urine and saliva are our assays good enough? *Ann Clin Biochem*, *54*(3), 308-322. https://doi.org/10.1177/0004563216687335.
- Ellis, B. J., & Del Giudice, M. (2019). Developmental Adaptation to Stress: An Evolutionary Perspective. Annu Rev Psychol, 70, 111-139. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-psych-122216-011732.
- Entringer, S., de Punder, K., Overfeld, J., Karaboycheva, G., Dittrich, K., Buss, C.,
 Winter, S. M., Binder, E. B., & Heim, C. (2020). Immediate and longitudinal
 effects of maltreatment on systemic inflammation in young children. *Dev Psychopathol*, 32(5), 1725-1731. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0954579420001686.
- Eriksson, M., Raikkonen, K., & Eriksson, J. G. (2014). Early life stress and later health outcomes--findings from the Helsinki Birth Cohort Study. *Am J Hum Biol*, 26(2), 111-116. https://doi.org/10.1002/ajhb.22502

- Fransquet, P. D., Wrigglesworth, J., Woods, R. L., Ernst, M. E., & Ryan, J. (2019). The epigenetic clock as a predictor of disease and mortality risk: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Clin Epigenetics*, *11*(1), 62. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13148-019-0656-7.
- Fries, G. R., Bauer, I. E., Scaini, G., Wu, M. J., Kazimi, I. F., Valvassori, S. S., Zunta-Soares, G., Walss-Bass, C., Soares, J. C., & Quevedo, J. (2017). Accelerated epigenetic aging and mitochondrial DNA copy number in bipolar disorder. *Transl Psychiatry*, 7(12), 1283. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41398-017-0048-8.
- Gassen, N. C., Chrousos, G. P., Binder, E. B., & Zannas, A. S. (2017). Life stress, glucocorticoid signaling, and the aging epigenome: Implications for aging-related diseases. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev*, 74(Pt B), 356-365. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neubiorev.2016.06.003.
- Griffith, A. K. (2020). Parental Burnout and Child Maltreatment During the COVID-19 Pandemic. *J Fam Violence*, 1-7. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10896-020-00172-2.
- Han, L. K. M., Aghajani, M., Clark, S. L., Chan, R. F., Hattab, M. W., Shabalin, A. A., Zhao, M., Kumar, G., Xie, L. Y., Jansen, R., Milaneschi, Y., Dean, B., Aberg, K. A., van den Oord, E., & Penninx, B. (2018). Epigenetic Aging in Major Depressive Disorder. *Am J Psychiatry*, *175*(8), 774-782. https://doi.org/10.1176/appi.ajp.2018.17060595.
- Hannum, G., Guinney, J., Zhao, L., Zhang, L., Hughes, G., Sadda, S., Klotzle, B.,
 Bibikova, M., Fan, J. B., Gao, Y., Deconde, R., Chen, M., Rajapakse, I., Friend,
 S., Ideker, T., & Zhang, K. (2013). Genome-wide methylation profiles reveal
 quantitative views of human aging rates. *Mol Cell*, *49*(2), 359-367.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molcel.2012.10.016.
- Hayes, A. F. (2017). The PROCESS Macro for SPSS and SAS. http://processmacro.org/index.html.
- Hayes, A. F., & Cai, L. (2007). Using heteroskedasticity-consistent standard error estimators in OLS regression: An introduction and software implementation. *Behavior Research Methods*, *39*(4), 709-722. https://doi.org/Doi 10.3758/Bf03192961.
- Hayes, A. F., & Rockwood, N. J. (2017). Regression-based statistical mediation and moderation analysis in clinical research: Observations, recommendations, and implementation. *Behav Res Ther*, *98*, 39-57. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brat.2016.11.001.

- Heim, C., & Binder, E. B. (2012). Current research trends in early life stress and depression: review of human studies on sensitive periods, gene-environment interactions, and epigenetics. *Exp Neurol*, 233(1), 102-111. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.expneurol.2011.10.032.
- Heim, C., Mletzko, T., Purselle, D., Musselman, D. L., & Nemeroff, C. B. (2008). The dexamethasone/corticotropin-releasing factor test in men with major depression: role of childhood trauma. *Biol Psychiatry*, *63*(4), 398-405. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopsych.2007.07.002.
- Heim, C., Newport, D. J., Bonsall, R., Miller, A. H., & Nemeroff, C. B. (2001). Altered pituitary-adrenal axis responses to provocative challenge tests in adult survivors of childhood abuse. *Am J Psychiatry*, *158*(4), 575-581. https://doi.org/10.1176/appi.ajp.158.4.575.
- Heim, C., Newport, D. J., Heit, S., Graham, Y. P., Wilcox, M., Bonsall, R., Miller, A. H.,
 & Nemeroff, C. B. (2000). Pituitary-adrenal and autonomic responses to stress in women after sexual and physical abuse in childhood. *JAMA*, *284*(5), 592-597. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.284.5.592.
- Horlich, J., Dehmel, S., Sierau, S., White, L., & Von Klitzing, K. (2014a). Das
 Maltreatment Classification System (MCS). Ein Modell zur Kategorisierung von
 Kindesmisshandlung und -vernachlässigung (Teil 1). Soziale Arbeit, 6, 202-210.
- Horlich, J., Dehmel, S., Sierau, S., White, L., & Von Klitzing, K. (2014b). Das
 Maltreatment Classification System (MCS). Ein Modell zur Kategorisierung von
 Kindesmisshandlung und -vernachlässigung (Teil 2). Soziale Arbeit, 7, 242-249.
- Horvath, S. (2013). DNA methylation age of human tissues and cell types. *Genome Biol*, *14*(10), R115. https://doi.org/10.1186/gb-2013-14-10-r115.
- Horvath, S., Erhart, W., Brosch, M., Ammerpohl, O., von Schonfels, W., Ahrens, M.,
 Heits, N., Bell, J. T., Tsai, P. C., Spector, T. D., Deloukas, P., Siebert, R., Sipos,
 B., Becker, T., Rocken, C., Schafmayer, C., & Hampe, J. (2014). Obesity
 accelerates epigenetic aging of human liver. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, *111*(43),
 15538-15543. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1412759111.
- Horvath, S., Gurven, M., Levine, M. E., Trumble, B. C., Kaplan, H., Allayee, H., Ritz, B.
 R., Chen, B., Lu, A. T., Rickabaugh, T. M., Jamieson, B. D., Sun, D., Li, S.,
 Chen, W., Quintana-Murci, L., Fagny, M., Kobor, M. S., Tsao, P. S., Reiner, A.
 P., Edlefsen, K.L., Absher, D., Assimes, T. L. (2016). An epigenetic clock

analysis of race/ethnicity, sex, and coronary heart disease. *Genome Biol*, *17*(1), 171. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13059-016-1030-0.

- Irvin, M. R., Aslibekyan, S., Do, A., Zhi, D., Hidalgo, B., Claas, S. A.,
 Srinivasasainagendra, V., Horvath, S., Tiwari, H. K., Absher, D. M., & Arnett, D.
 K. (2018). Metabolic and inflammatory biomarkers are associated with epigenetic aging acceleration estimates in the GOLDN study. *Clin Epigenetics*, *10*, 56. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13148-018-0481-4.
- Jovanovic, T., Vance, L. A., Cross, D., Knight, A. K., Kilaru, V., Michopoulos, V., Klengel, T., & Smith, A. K. (2017). Exposure to Violence Accelerates Epigenetic Aging in Children. Sci Rep, 7(1), 8962. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-017-09235-9.
- Kelly-Irving, M., Lepage, B., Dedieu, D., Bartley, M., Blane, D., Grosclaude, P., Lang, T., & Delpierre, C. (2013). Adverse childhood experiences and premature all-cause mortality. *Eur J Epidemiol*, 28(9), 721-734. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10654-013-9832-9
- Kempe, C. H., Silverman, F. N., Steele, B. F., Droegemueller, W., & Silver, H. K. (1962). The battered-child syndrome. *JAMA*, *181*, 17-24. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.1962.03050270019004.
- Lange, M., Kamtsiuris, P., Lange, C., Schaffrath Rosario, A., Stolzenberg, H., &
 Lampert, T. (2007). [Sociodemographic characteristics in the German Health Interview and Examination Survey for Children and Adolescents (KiGGS) operationalisation and public health significance, taking as an example the assessment of general state of health]. *Bundesgesundheitsblatt Gesundheitsforschung Gesundheitsschutz*, *50*(5-6), 578-589.
 https://doi.org/10.1007/s00103-007-0219-5 (Messung soziodemographischer Merkmale im Kinder- und Jugendgesundheitssurvey (KiGGS) und ihre Bedeutung am Beispiel der Einschatzung des allgemeinen Gesundheitszustands.)
- Leek, J. T., Johnson, W. E., Parker, H. S., Jaffe, A. E., & Storey, J. D. (2012). The sva package for removing batch effects and other unwanted variation in highthroughput experiments. *Bioinformatics*, 28(6), 882-883. https://doi.org/10.1093/bioinformatics/bts034.
- Lu, A. T., Seeboth, A., Tsai, P. C., Sun, D., Quach, A., Reiner, A. P., Kooperberg, C., Ferrucci, L., Hou, L., Baccarelli, A. A., Li, Y., Harris, S. E., Corley, J., Taylor, A.,

Deary, I. J., Stewart, J. D., Whitsel, E. A., Assimes, T. L., Chen, W., Li, S., Mangino, M., Bell, J.T., Wilson, J.G., Aviv, A., Marioni, R.E., Raj, K., Horvath, S. (2019). DNA methylation-based estimator of telomere length. *Aging (Albany NY)*, *11*(16), 5895-5923. https://doi.org/10.18632/aging.102173.

- Lupien, S. J., McEwen, B. S., Gunnar, M. R., & Heim, C. (2009). Effects of stress throughout the lifespan on the brain, behaviour and cognition. *Nat Rev Neurosci*, 10(6), 434-445. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrn2639.
- Marini, S., Davis, K. A., Soare, T. W., Zhu, Y., Suderman, M. J., Simpkin, A. J., Smith, A., Wolf, E. J., Relton, C. L., & Dunn, E. C. (2020). Adversity exposure during sensitive periods predicts accelerated epigenetic aging in children. *Psychoneuroendocrinology*, *113*, 104484. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psyneuen.2019.104484.
- McEwen, L. M., O'Donnell, K. J., McGill, M. G., Edgar, R. D., Jones, M. J., MacIsaac, J. L., Lin, D. T. S., Ramadori, K., Morin, A., Gladish, N., Garg, E., Unternaehrer, E., Pokhvisneva, I., Karnani, N., Kee, M. Z. L., Klengel, T., Adler, N. E., Barr, R. G., Letourneau, N., Giesbrecht, G.F., Reynolds, J.N., Czamara, D., Armstrong, J.M., Essex, M.J., de Weerth, C., Beijers, R., Tollenaar, M.S., Bradley, B., Jovanovic, T., Ressler, K.J., Steiner, M., Entringer, S., Wadhwa, P.D., Buss, C., Bush, N.R., Binder, E.B., Boyce, W.T., Meaney, M.J., Horvath, S., Kobor, M. S. (2020). The PedBE clock accurately estimates DNA methylation age in pediatric buccal cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, *117*(38), 23329-23335.

https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1820843116.

- Michels, K. B., Keller, K., Pereira, A., Kim, C. E., Santos, J. L., Shepherd, J., Corvalan, C., & Binder, A. M. (2020). Association between indicators of systemic inflammation biomarkers during puberty with breast density and onset of menarche. *Breast Cancer Res*, 22(1), 104. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13058-020-01338-y.
- Muller, C., Schillert, A., Rothemeier, C., Tregouet, D. A., Proust, C., Binder, H., Pfeiffer, N., Beutel, M., Lackner, K. J., Schnabel, R. B., Tiret, L., Wild, P. S., Blankenberg, S., Zeller, T., & Ziegler, A. (2016). Removing Batch Effects from Longitudinal Gene Expression Quantile Normalization Plus ComBat as Best Approach for Microarray Transcriptome Data. *PLoS One*, *11*(6), e0156594. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0156594.

- Nevalainen, T., Kananen, L., Marttila, S., Jylhava, J., Mononen, N., Kahonen, M.,
 Raitakari, O. T., Hervonen, A., Jylha, M., Lehtimaki, T., & Hurme, M. (2017).
 Obesity accelerates epigenetic aging in middle-aged but not in elderly
 individuals. *Clin Epigenetics*, *9*, 20. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13148-016-0301-7.
- Ouellet-Morin, I., Danese, A., Williams, B., & Arseneault, L. (2011). Validation of a highsensitivity assay for C-reactive protein in human saliva. *Brain Behav Immun*, 25(4), 640-646. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbi.2010.12.020.
- Out, D., Hall, R. J., Granger, D. A., Page, G. G., & Woods, S. J. (2012). Assessing salivary C-reactive protein: longitudinal associations with systemic inflammation and cardiovascular disease risk in women exposed to intimate partner violence. *Brain Behav Immun*, 26(4), 543-551. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbi.2012.01.019.
- Perna, L., Zhang, Y., Mons, U., Holleczek, B., Saum, K. U., & Brenner, H. (2016).
 Epigenetic age acceleration predicts cancer, cardiovascular, and all-cause mortality in a German case cohort. *Clin Epigenetics*, *8*, 64. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13148-016-0228-z.
- Pidsley, R., Zotenko, E., Peters, T. J., Lawrence, M. G., Risbridger, G. P., Molloy, P., Van Djik, S., Muhlhausler, B., Stirzaker, C., & Clark, S. J. (2016). Critical evaluation of the Illumina MethylationEPIC BeadChip microarray for wholegenome DNA methylation profiling. *Genome Biol*, *17*(1), 208. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13059-016-1066-1.
- Provencal, N., Arloth, J., Cattaneo, A., Anacker, C., Cattane, N., Wiechmann, T., Roh, S., Kodel, M., Klengel, T., Czamara, D., Muller, N. S., Lahti, J., team, P., Raikkonen, K., Pariante, C. M., & Binder, E. B. (2020). Glucocorticoid exposure during hippocampal neurogenesis primes future stress response by inducing changes in DNA methylation. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, *117*(38), 23280-23285. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1820842116.
- Quach, A., Levine, M. E., Tanaka, T., Lu, A. T., Chen, B. H., Ferrucci, L., Ritz, B.,
 Bandinelli, S., Neuhouser, M. L., Beasley, J. M., Snetselaar, L., Wallace, R. B.,
 Tsao, P. S., Absher, D., Assimes, T. L., Stewart, J. D., Li, Y., Hou, L., Baccarelli,
 A. A., Whitsel, E.A., Horvath, S. (2017). Epigenetic clock analysis of diet,
 exercise, education, and lifestyle factors. *Aging (Albany NY)*, *9*(2), 419-446.
 https://doi.org/10.18632/aging.101168.
- Ravens-Sieberer, U., Kaman, A., Erhart, M., Devine, J., Schlack, R., & Otto, C. (2021). Impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on quality of life and mental health in children

and adolescents in Germany. *Eur Child Adolesc Psychiatry*. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00787-021-01726-5.

- Shenk, C. E., O'Donnell, K. J., Pokhvisneva, I., Kobor, M. S., Meaney, M. J., Bensman,
 H. E., Allen, E. K., & Olson, A. E. (2021). Epigenetic Age Acceleration and Risk
 for Posttraumatic Stress Disorder following Exposure to Substantiated Child
 Maltreatment. J Clin Child Adolesc Psychol, 1-11.
 https://doi.org/10.1080/15374416.2020.1864738.
- Simpkin, A. J., Hemani, G., Suderman, M., Gaunt, T. R., Lyttleton, O., McArdle, W. L., Ring, S. M., Sharp, G. C., Tilling, K., Horvath, S., Kunze, S., Peters, A., Waldenberger, M., Ward-Caviness, C., Nohr, E. A., Sorensen, T. I., Relton, C. L., & Smith, G. D. (2016). Prenatal and early life influences on epigenetic age in children: a study of mother-offspring pairs from two cohort studies. *Hum Mol Genet*, 25(1), 191-201. https://doi.org/10.1093/hmg/ddv456.
- Smith, A. K., Kilaru, V., Klengel, T., Mercer, K. B., Bradley, B., Conneely, K. N., Ressler, K. J., & Binder, E. B. (2015). DNA extracted from saliva for methylation studies of psychiatric traits: evidence tissue specificity and relatedness to brain. *Am J Med Genet B Neuropsychiatr Genet*, *168B*(1), 36-44. https://doi.org/10.1002/ajmg.b.32278.
- Stevenson, A. J., McCartney, D. L., Harris, S. E., Taylor, A. M., Redmond, P., Starr, J. M., Zhang, Q., McRae, A. F., Wray, N. R., Spires-Jones, T. L., McColl, B. W., McIntosh, A. M., Deary, I. J., & Marioni, R. E. (2018). Trajectories of inflammatory biomarkers over the eighth decade and their associations with immune cell profiles and epigenetic ageing. *Clin Epigenetics*, *10*(1), 159. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13148-018-0585-x.
- Sugrue, V. J., Zoller, J. A., Narayan, P., Lu, A. T., Ortega-Recalde, O. J., Grant, M. J., Bawden, C. S., Rudiger, S. R., Haghani, A., Bond, D. M., Hore, R. R., Garratt, M., Sears, K. E., Wang, N., Yang, X. W., Snell, R. G., Hore, T. A., & Horvath, S. (2021). Castration delays epigenetic aging and feminizes DNA methylation at androgen-regulated loci. *Elife*, *10*. https://doi.org/10.7554/eLife.64932.
- Sumner, J. A., Colich, N. L., Uddin, M., Armstrong, D., & McLaughlin, K. A. (2019). Early Experiences of Threat, but Not Deprivation, Are Associated With Accelerated Biological Aging in Children and Adolescents. *Biol Psychiatry*, *85*(3), 268-278. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopsych.2018.09.008.

- Tang, R., Howe, L. D., Suderman, M., Relton, C. L., Crawford, A. A., & Houtepen, L. C. (2020). Adverse childhood experiences, DNA methylation age acceleration, and cortisol in UK children: a prospective population-based cohort study. *Clin Epigenetics*, *12*(1), 55. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13148-020-00844-2.
- Thomasson, R., Baillot, A., Jollin, L., Lecoq, A. M., Amiot, V., Lasne, F., & Collomp, K. (2010). Correlation between plasma and saliva adrenocortical hormones in response to submaximal exercise. *J Physiol Sci*, 60(6), 435-439. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12576-010-0106-y.
- Tollenaar, M. S., Beijers, R., Garg, E., Nguyen, T. T. T., Lin, D. T. S., MacIsaac, J. L., Shalev, I., Kobor, M. S., Meaney, M. J., O'Donnell, K. J., & de Weerth, C. (2021). Internalizing symptoms associate with the pace of epigenetic aging in childhood. *Biol Psychol*, *159*, 108021. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopsycho.2021.108021
- United Nations, D. o. E. a. S. A., Population Division (2019). *World Population Ageing* 2019: Highlights (ST/ESA/SER.A/430).
- Walker, E. R., McGee, R. E., & Druss, B. G. (2015). Mortality in mental disorders and global disease burden implications: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *JAMA Psychiatry*, 72(4), 334-341.
 https://doi.org/10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2014.2502.
- Witt, A., Glaesmer, H., Jud, A., Plener, P. L., Brahler, E., Brown, R. C., & Fegert, J. M. (2018). Trends in child maltreatment in Germany: comparison of two representative population-based studies. *Child Adolesc Psychiatry Ment Health*, *12*, 24. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13034-018-0232-5.
- Wolf, E. J., Logue, M. W., Morrison, F. G., Wilcox, E. S., Stone, A., Schichman, S. A., McGlinchey, R. E., Milberg, W. P., & Miller, M. W. (2019). Posttraumatic psychopathology and the pace of the epigenetic clock: a longitudinal investigation. *Psychol Med*, 49(5), 791-800. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0033291718001411.
- Yusipov, I., Bacalini, M. G., Kalyakulina, A., Krivonosov, M., Pirazzini, C., Gensous, N., Ravaioli, F., Milazzo, M., Giuliani, C., Vedunova, M., Fiorito, G., Gagliardi, A., Polidoro, S., Garagnani, P., Ivanchenko, M., & Franceschi, C. (2020). Agerelated DNA methylation changes are sex-specific: a comprehensive assessment. *Aging* (Albany NY), 12(23), 24057-24080. https://doi.org/10.18632/aging.202251.

Statutory Declaration

"I, Felix Dammering, by personally signing this document in lieu of an oath, hereby affirm that I prepared the submitted dissertation on the topic Early-Life Stress and Epigenetic Ageing in Preschool-Aged Children (German: Lebensgeschichtlich Frühe Stresserfahrungen und Epigenetische Alterung bei Kindern im Vorschulalter) independently and without the support of third parties, and that I used no other sources and aids than those stated.All parts which are based on the publications or presentations of other authors, either in letter or in spirit, are specified as such in accordance with the citing guidelines. The sections on methodology (regarding practical work, laboratory regulations, statistical processing) and results (regarding figures, charts, and tables) are exclusively my responsibility.

Furthermore, I declare that I have correctly marked all the data, the analyses, and the conclusions generated from data obtained in collaboration with other persons, and that I have correctly marked my own contribution and the contributions of other persons (cf. declaration of contribution). I have correctly marked all texts or parts of texts that were generated in collaboration with other persons.

My contributions to any publications to this dissertation correspond to those stated in the below joint declaration made together with the supervisor. All publications created within the scope of the dissertation comply with the guidelines of the ICMJE (International Committee of Medical Journal Editors; http://www.icmje.org) on authorship. In addition, I declare that I shall comply with the regulations of Charité – Universitätsmedizin Berlin on ensuring good scientific practice.

I declare that I have not yet submitted this dissertation in identical or similar form to another Faculty.

The significance of this statutory declaration and the consequences of a false statutory declaration under criminal law (Sections 156, 161 of the German Criminal Code) are known to me."

Signature

Declaration of your own contribution to the publications

I conducted diagnostic tests in the BerlinLCS study that provided the data for the current dissertation project. I collected saliva samples from children and preprocessed biological samples in the laboratory. Cortisol and CRP levels were determined by the lab technician, Heiko Klawitter, and by Dr. Karin de Punder. I further curated and processed the data used for the current study and calculated epigenetic ageing scores for each child. I performed statistical analyses including t-tests, chi-squared tests, regression models, univariate analyses of covariance, moderation and simple slope analyses as well as correlations analyses. I wrote the dissertation and marked the text that was originally generated in collaboration with Dr. Christine Heim and Dr. Sonja Entringer as well as with Jade Martins and Dr. Elisabeth Binder for the published article. Jade Martins, Dr. Elisabeth Binder and other colleagues from the Max Planck Institute of Psychiatry assessed DNA methylation status and ran the DNA methylation-based PedBE clock algorithm for each child as well as the gene set enrichment analysis. Regarding the published article, I wrote the first draft, and edited and reviewed the manuscript, in collaboration with Dr. Christine Heim. Jade Martins and Dr. Elisabeth Binder contributed to the manuscript in Section 2.2 as well as in Section 2.5. They further provided the results of the gene set enrichment analysis. Except for the latter, all inference statistical analyses and descriptive statistics were carried out by me. I generated all visualizations including Figures 1, 2, and 3 as well as Tables 1 and 2 in the published article. The current study includes additional analyses compared to the published article including correlational analyses as well as analyses of variance assessing the effects of externalizing disorder as factor and cortisol and CRP levels as criteria, all of which were carried out by me.

Felix Dammering contributed the following to the below listed publication:

Dammering, F., Martins, J., Dittrich, K., Czamara, D., Rex-Haffner, M., Overfeld, J., de Punder, K., Buss, C., Entringer, S., Winter, S.M., Binder, E.B., Heim, C. (2021). The Pediatric Buccal Epigenetic Clock Identifies Significant Ageing Acceleration in Children with Internalizing Disorder and Maltreatment Exposure. Neurobiology of Stress, 15.

Signature, date, and stamp of first supervising university professor / lecturer

Signature of doctoral candidate

Excerpt from Journal Summary List

Journal Data Filtered By: Selected JCR Year: 2019 Selected Editions: SCIE,SSCI Selected Categories: "NEUROSCIENCES" Selected Category Scheme: WoS Gesamtanzahl: 271 Journale

Rank	Full Journal Title	Total Cites	Journal Impact Factor	Eigenfactor Score
1	NATURE REVIEWS NEUROSCIENCE	42,809	33.654	0.055400
2	NATURE NEUROSCIENCE	62,933	20.071	0.144390
3	BEHAVIORAL AND BRAIN SCIENCES	9,395	17.333	0.008170
4	TRENDS IN COGNITIVE SCIENCES	27,705	15.218	0.036050
5	JOURNAL OF PINEAL RESEARCH	10,537	14.528	0.009430
6	NEURON	95,056	14.415	0.199640
7	ACTA NEUROPATHOLOGICA	21,908	14.251	0.040740
8	TRENDS IN NEUROSCIENCES	20,011	12.891	0.021220
9	Annual Review of Neuroscience	13,215	12.547	0.012740
10	MOLECULAR PSYCHIATRY	22,227	12.384	0.054730
11	Nature Human Behaviour	2,457	12.282	0.014190
12	BIOLOGICAL PSYCHIATRY	44,016	12.095	0.053910
13	BRAIN	53,282	11.337	0.067050
14	SLEEP MEDICINE REVIEWS	8,077	9.613	0.013000
15	Molecular Neurodegeneration	4,933	9.599	0.011840
16	PROGRESS IN NEUROBIOLOGY	12,791	9.371	0.011250
17	FRONTIERS IN NEUROENDOCRINOLOGY	4,491	9.059	0.007050
18	ANNALS OF NEUROLOGY	37,304	9.037	0.044120
19	NEUROSCIENCE AND BIOBEHAVIORAL REVIEWS	28,873	8.330	0.051900
20	Neurology-Neuroimmunology & Neuroinflammation	2,232	7.724	0.008400
21	NEUROPATHOLOGY AND APPLIED NEUROBIOLOGY	3,992	7.500	0.005960

Rank	Full Journal Title	Total Cites	Journal Impact Factor	Eigenfactor Score
22	Neurobiology of Stress	1,055	7.197	0.003840
23	NEUROPSYCHOPHARMACOLOGY	26,281	6.751	0.040680
24	npj Parkinsons Disease	662	6.750	0.002500
25	BRAIN BEHAVIOR AND IMMUNITY	16,285	6.633	0.028560
26	Brain Stimulation	6,537	6.565	0.015580
27	NEUROSCIENTIST	5,188	6.500	0.007220
28	Acta Neuropathologica Communications	4,070	6.270	0.014730
29	CURRENT OPINION IN NEUROBIOLOGY	14,959	6.267	0.028730
30	Alzheimers Research & Therapy	3,876	6.116	0.011650
31	Neurotherapeutics	4,998	6.035	0.009520
32	GLIA	14,220	5.984	0.017250
33	NEUROIMAGE	102,632	5.902	0.125360
34	Annual Review of Vision Science	601	5.897	0.003700
35	Molecular Autism	2,510	5.869	0.007450
36	Journal of Neuroinflammation	13,709	5.793	0.025870
37	Translational Stroke Research	2,274	5.780	0.004520
38	JOURNAL OF CEREBRAL BLOOD FLOW AND METABOLISM	19,492	5.681	0.024230
39	JOURNAL OF NEUROSCIENCE	167,114	5.673	0.181170
40	BRAIN PATHOLOGY	5,308	5.568	0.007020
41	Translational Neurodegeneration	1,030	5.551	0.002790
42	NEURAL NETWORKS	14,065	5.535	0.018910
43	PAIN	37,753	5.483	0.035730

Printing copy(s) of the publication(s)

Neurobiology of Stress 15 (2021) 100394



The pediatric buccal epigenetic clock identifies significant ageing acceleration in children with internalizing disorder and maltreatment exposure

Felix Dammering ^a, Jade Martins ^b, Katja Dittrich ^c, Darina Czamara ^b, Monika Rex-Haffner ^b, Judith Overfeld ^a, Karin de Punder ^a, Claudia Buss ^{a,d}, Sonja Entringer ^{a,d}, Sibylle M. Winter ^c, Elisabeth B. Binder ^b, Christine Heim ^{a,e,*}

^a Charité – Universitätsmedizin Berlin, Corporate Member of Freie Universität Berlin and Humboldt-Universität zu Berlin, Institute of Medical Psychology, Berlin, Germany

^b Dept. of Translational Research in Psychiatry, Max Planck Institute of Psychiatry, Munich, Germany
^c Charité – Universitätsmedizin Berlin, Corporate Member of Freie Universität Berlin and Humboldt-Universität zu Berlin, Dept. of Child & Adolescent Psychiatry,

Psychotherapy, and Psychosomatics, Berlin, Germany

^d University of California, Irvine, Development, Health, and Disease Research Program, Orange, CA, USA
^e Dept. of Biobehavioral Health, The Pennsylvania State University, University Park, PA, USA

ARTICLE INFO

ABSTRACT

Keywords: Epigenetic ageing Early development Maltreatment Psychopathology Glucocorticoids

have relied on algorithms for estimating epigenetic age derived from adult samples. These algorithms have limited validity for epigenetic age estimation during early development. We here use a pediatric buccal epigenetic (PedBE) clock to predict DNA methylation-based ageing deviation in children with and without internalizing disorder and assess the moderating effect of maltreatment exposure. We further conduct a gene set enrichment analysis to assess the contribution of glucocorticoid signaling to PedBE clock-based results. Method: DNA was isolated from saliva of 158 children [73 girls, 85 boys; mean age (SD) = 4.25 (0.8) years] including children with internalizing disorder and maltreatment exposure. Epigenetic age was estimated based on DNA methylation across 94 CpGs of the PedBE clock. Residuals of epigenetic age regressed against chronological age were contrasted between children with and without internalizing disorder. Maltreatment was coded in 3 severity levels and entered in a moderation model. Genome-wide dexamethasone-responsive CpGs were derived from an independent sample and enrichment of these CpGs within the PedBE clock was identified. Results: Children with internalizing disorder exhibited significant acceleration of epigenetic ageing as compared to children without internalizing disorder ($F_{1,147} = 6.67$, p = .011). This association was significantly moderated by maltreatment severity (b = 0.49, 95% CI [0.073, 0.909], t = 2.322, p = .022). Children with internalizing disorder who had experienced maltreatment exhibited ageing acceleration relative to children with no internalizing disorder (1–2 categories: b = 0.50, 95% CI [0.170, 0.821], t = 3.008, p = .003; 3 or more categories: b = 0.99, 95% CI [0.380, 1.593], t = 3.215, p = .002). Children with internalizing disorder who were not exposed to maltreatment did not show epigenetic ageing acceleration. There was significant enrichment of dexamethasone responsive CpGs within the PedBE clock (OR = 4.36, p = 1.65*10-6). Among the 94 CpGs of the PedBE clock, 18 (19%) were responsive to dexamethasone.

Background: Studies reporting accelerated ageing in children with affective disorders or maltreatment exposure

Conclusion: Using the novel PedBE clock, we show that internalizing disorder is associated with accelerated epigenetic ageing in early childhood. This association is moderated by maltreatment severity and may, in part, be driven by glucocorticoids. Identifying developmental drivers of accelerated epigenetic ageing after maltreatment will be critical to devise early targeted interventions.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ynstr.2021.100394

Received 16 July 2021; Received in revised form 26 August 2021; Accepted 9 September 2021

Available online 11 September 2021 2352-2895/© 2021 The Authors. Published by Elsevier Inc. This is an open access article under the CC BY-NC-ND license

^{*} Corresponding author. Institute of Medical Psychology, Charité – Universitätsmedizin Berlin, Luisenstr. 57, 10117, Berlin, Germany. *E-mail address:* christine.heim@charite.de (C. Heim).

1. Introduction

Individuals with psychiatric disorders die on average over ten years earlier as compared to the general population and the main causes of death are common ageing-related diseases (Walker et al., 2015). It is believed that accelerated biological ageing may contribute to premature morbidity and mortality in individuals with psychiatric disorders (Danese and McEwen, 2012; Gassen et al., 2017). One common indicator for cellular ageing is DNA telomere shortening that occurs with each cell division. Telomere shortening has been reported for nearly all of the major psychiatric disorders (Darrow et al., 2016). Another indicator of biological ageing is derived from epigenetic assessments. So-called epigenetic clocks consider time-dependent changes in DNA methylation at specific cytosine-guanine dinucleotide sites (CpGs), resulting in estimates of epigenetic age (Hannum et al., 2013; Horvath, 2013). The gap between epigenetic age and chronological age indicates deviation of biological ageing, i.e. acceleration or deceleration.

A number of studies document accelerated epigenetic ageing in individuals with psychiatric disorders, including major depression (Han et al., 2018), bipolar disorder (Fries et al., 2017), posttraumatic stress disorder (Shenk et al., 2021; Wolf et al., 2019), and internalizing symptoms in children (Tollenaar et al., 2021). Accelerated epigenetic ageing has also been reported for cardiovascular disease, obesity, diabetes, and cancer, as well as for all-cause mortality (Fransouet et al., 2019, Horvath et al., 2014, Nevalainen et al., 2017; Perna et al., 2016). Little is known, however, as to whether risk factors that drive both psychiatric and physical morbidity, such as early-life stress (ELS), contribute to accelerated ageing in these disorders. Notably, within psychiatric disorders, there are important subtypes with distinct biological features that occur as a function of ELS. E.g., glucocorticoid dysregulation and inflammation, both drivers of ageing, have been shown to occur in depressed individuals with ELS, but not in depressed individuals without ELS (Heim et al., 2004; Danese et al., 2008; Teicher and Samson, 2013). It is conceivable that ELS also contributes to accelerated ageing in these disorders.

Several studies provide evidence for increased telomere shortening in adults exposed to ELS (Kananen et al., 2010; O'Donovan et al., 2011; Rentscher et al., 2020; Surtees et al., 2011; Tyrka et al., 2010) as well as children with ELS (Drury et al., 2012; Mitchell et al., 2014; Shalev et al., 2013). Furthermore, epigenetic ageing indicators provide evidence for accelerated ageing in adults and children exposed to poverty, trauma, abuse, threat, and neighborhood violence early in life (Austin et al., 2018; Hamlat et al., 2021; Jovanovic et al., 2017; Marini et al., 2020; Sumner et al., 2019; Wolf et al., 2018). One study in adults reported that epigenetic ageing acceleration within a group of depressed individuals was accentuated by the severity of ELS (Han et al., 2018).

However, there is an important methodological caveat of the above studies that estimated epigenetic ageing in children. These studies uniformly applied epigenetic ageing estimates that were validated for adults. The applied algorithms are likely not suitable to estimate epigenetic ageing in children. Importantly, specific CpGs and methylation patterns associated with maturation during early development likely differ from those that mark ageing in later life. Moreover, DNA methylation changes during childhood occur at a 3 to 4-fold higher rate compared to adults (Alisch et al., 2012). Hence, epigenetic clocks must be developed for specific age ranges. To that end, a novel epigenetic clock has recently been developed for application in pediatric samples (McEwen et al., 2020). The pediatric buccal epigenetic (PedBE) clock was generated from a training dataset of 1032 children aged 0-19 years and evaluated in an independent test dataset of 689 children of the same age range. The PedBE clock estimates epigenetic age based on methylation patterns across 94 CpGs and has been shown to demonstrate higher accuracy than Horvath's clock to estimate epigenetic age in healthy children

The objectives of the current study were 4-fold: 1) We use the PedBE clock in a clinical study of young children aged 3–5 years. 2) We assess

epigenetic ageing deviation in children with internalizing disorder as compared to children without internalizing disorder. **3**) We assess the contribution of ELS exposure to epigenetic ageing in children with internalizing disorder. **4**) We determine the contribution of glucocorticoid signaling to PedBE clock results by identifying specific CpGs that are responsive to the glucocorticoid receptor agonist dexamethasone, derived from an independent sample, within the PedBE clock and we assess differential methylation in these stress-associated CpGs as a function of internalizing disorder and ELS.

2. Methods

This study is part of the larger Berlin Longitudinal Children Study (BMBF 01K1301). A sample of 173 children was recruited to include children with maltreatment exposure within 6 months and nonmaltreated children. Maltreated children were recruited via child protection services in the Berlin area. Non-maltreated children were recruited from the community. Data on epigenetic age was available for 168 children. Of those, 10 children were excluded due to missing data on clinical status, resulting in a final sample of 158 children, including 73 girls and 85 boys, with a mean age of 4.25 years (SD = 0.8, range 3–5 $\,$ years). A total of 81 children were classified as maltreatment cases according to the Maltreatment Classification System (MCS; Barnett et al., 1993). The MCS codes the occurrence, onset, duration, severity, and frequency of 7 types of maltreatment. We used severity cutoff scores for entry in the maltreatment group (emotional maltreatment >2, physical maltreatment >1, and/or neglect >1). For assignment to the group of non-maltreated children, any maltreatment or other trauma was excluded. Exclusion criteria for all children included parents under the age of 18 years, severe chronic medical disease, psychosis, neurodevelopmental disorders, disability, current medication, and chronic illness of a caretaker. All procedures adhered to the Declaration of Helsinki and were approved by the ethics committee of Charité - Universitätsmedizin Berlin. Informed consent was obtained from caretakers and assent was obtained from children. Caregivers received monetary compensation and children received a small gift for participation. Caregivers received diagnostic results and referrals for psychosocial or medical follow-up.

2.1. Demographic and clinical assessments

Study procedures were implemented during a clinic visit. Children underwent a standard medical examination to exclude health problems and monitor physical signs of maltreatment. Trained clinicians administered structured interviews based on caretaker report to assess psychiatric disorders and maltreatment features. Psychiatric disorders were assessed according to DSM-IV using the electronic Preschool Age Psychiatric Assessment (Egger and Angold, 2004). Presence or absence of current internalizing disorder was coded, including dysthymia, major depression, social anxiety disorder, selective mutism, specific and social phobia, and general anxiety disorder. Maltreatment features were assessed using the Maternal Interview for the Classification of Maltreatment (Cicchetti et al., 2003; German: Horlich et al., 2014a,b) and coded according to the MCS (Barnett et al., 1993; German; Horlich et al., 2014a,b). MCS categories include sexual abuse, physical, and emotional abuse, neglect due to lack of supervision or failure to provide, educational neglect, and moral-legal neglect. A sum score of experienced maltreatment categories was computed for each child (range 0-7). Sex, body mass index (BMI), and socioeconomic status (SES) according to Winkler and Stoltenberg (1999) were recorded.

2.2. DNA methylation

Saliva for genomic DNA extraction was collected using ORAgene DNA kits (OG500) at 9 a.m. during the clinic visit. DNA extraction was performed with a standardized and automated procedure based on

magnetic beads for $2 \times 400 \ \mu l$ saliva samples using the PerkinElmer Chemagic360 system. The Infinium Methylation EPIC BeadChip (Illumina Inc, San Diego, CA, USA) was used to measure DNA methylation (DNAm). Samples were randomized with regards to maltreatment status, age, and sex to avoid confounding. Hybridization and array processing were performed as specified by the manufacturer. Functional normalization implemented by the minfi package (Aryee et al., 2014) was used to normalize the data. Batch effects were identified and removed with the Empirical Bayes' method ComBat (Müller et al., 2016) included in the R package sva (Leek et al., 2012). CpGs located on the X or Y chromosome, cross-reactive and polymorphic probes were removed (Chen et al., 2013; Pidsley et al., 2016), and probes with detection p > .01 in more than 25% of the samples were filtered out. A total of 830,206 CpGs remained after batch correction and quality control. Cell composition of the buccal swab samples was estimated using the deconvolution method described by (Smith et al., 2015) and was corrected for in all statistical models.

2.3. Epigenetic age estimate and ageing deviation

We used the PedBE clock algorithm that has been developed for epigenetic age estimation in individuals aged 0–20 years (McEwen et al., 2020). This algorithm uses information on methylation status at 94 empirically selected CpGs that either show an increase or decrease in methylation with time. The algorithm was applied as previously described (McEwen et al., 2020). To test the validity of the PedBE clock for age estimation in our sample, we used Pearson's correlation coefficient between PedBE clock-estimated age and chronological age and found a correlation of $r=.745 \, (p<.001; see Fig. 1)$. We next computed a linear regression model of estimated epigenetic age regressed against chronological age and standardized residuals were used to compute indices for each individual ageing deviation. Residuals with negative values indicate ageing deceleration and residuals with positive values

Neurobiology of Stress 15 (2021) 100394

indicate ageing acceleration. These indices were used in all statistical models. Unstandardized residuals were used to compute ageing acceleration in months to aid interpretation of results.

2.4. Statistical analysis of ageing deviation

The total sample of 158 children was stratified into those with (n = 49) and without (n = 109) current internalizing disorder. We used univariate analysis of covariance to test for differences in mean epigenetic ageing deviation scores, i.e. residuals of epigenetic age regressed against chronological age, between children with and without current internalizing disorder. Covariates with known impact on epigenetic ageing were entered in the model (see below). Next, we examined whether the number of maltreatment categories moderates the association between the presence or absence of internalizing disorder and epigenetic ageing deviation using the PROCESS macro (Hayes, 2017). The moderation hypothesis is first tested with a regression analysis, in which the effect of the predictor on the outcome variable is not under constraint to be fixed, but can vary as a function of the moderator variable, yielding an interaction term. In a second step, simple slope anal-"probes" the nature of the established interaction, while vsis simultaneously considering data points and covariance in the total model and based on the entire sample. We computed the model as follows: We coded a moderator variable based on the number of maltreatment types that was coded at 3 severity levels (Table 1): 1) No maltreatment (value = 0, n = 77), 2) Mild to moderate maltreatment: 1 to 2 maltreatment categories (value = 1, n = 55), and 3) Severe maltreatment: 3 or more maltreatment categories (value = 2, n = 26). For the ordinary least square (OLS) regression in the moderation analysis, variables were mean-centered to enhance interpretation of effects. We applied the Davidson-MacKinnon heteroscedasticity-consistent standard error estimator for ordinary least square regressions to enhance validity and power (Davidson and MacKinnon, 1993; Hayes and Cai,



Fig. 1. Correlation of PedBE clock-estimated age and chronological age (r = . 745, p < .001).

Table 1

Demographic and Clinical Characteristics of the Sample. Values are presented as mean (SD) or n (%).

	No Internalizing Disorder (n = 109)	Internalizing Disorder (n = 49)	P Value
Chronological Age in Years	4.27 (0.79)	4.18 (0.85)	.507
Female Sex	52 (47.70)	21 (42.90)	.572
Self-Reported Ethnicit	у		
White	100 (91.70)	44 (89.80)	.296
White-Black	6 (5.50)	5 (10.20)	
White-Asian	3 (2.80)	0 (0)	
Maltreatment			.003
Categories			
0	63 (57.80)	14 (28.60)	
1-2	30 (27.50)	25 (51.00)	
≥ 3	16 (14.70)	10 (20.40)	
SES	13.65 (5.00)	10.49 (5.03)	<.001
BMI	15.42 (1.07)	15.61 (1.35)	.326

2007). In a second step, we computed simple slopes at the three levels of maltreatment severity categories from the regression equation of the significant interaction term in the moderation model (Haves and Rockwood, 2017). To probe the interaction, the integrated model tests whether each of the 3 slopes shows a significant change in ageing acceleration residuals. This means that we tested whether each slope shows epigenetic ageing acceleration as a function of internalizing disorder under the conditional effect of a given level of maltreatment severity. A post-hoc power analysis was conducted for the OLS regression in the moderation model using G*Power (Faul et al., 2009). All analyses were adjusted for confounders with known impact on epigenetic ageing, including 1) cell type composition (buccal cells, CD14, CD34), 2) population structure and relatedness (3 variables) as described in Martins et al. (2021), and 3) caregiver-reported sex, BMI, and SES. Analyses were performed using SPSS 25.0 for Windows. Alpha level of significance was set at p < .05.

Neurobiology of Stress 15 (2021) 100394

2.5. Gene set enrichment analysis

To elucidate the contribution of glucocorticoid signaling to epigenetic ageing estimates in the PedBE clock, we tested whether dexamethasone-responsive CpGs are enriched within the 94 CpG sites of the PedBE clock. We obtained data on dexamethasone-responsive CpGs from an independent cohort (n = 113), which is described by Provençal et al. (2020) in detail. In this cohort, DNA was extracted from peripheral blood taken before and 3 h after ingestion of 1.5 mg dexamethasone. DNA methylation was measured using the Illumina Human-Methylation450 BeadChip and differentially methylated CpGs after treatment with dexamethasone were assessed (FDR-corrected p value of .1). The analysis identified 23,031 CpGs that were responsive to dexamethasone as indicated by differential methylation post-treatment. For the current study, enrichment of dexamethasone-responsive CpGs within the 94 CpGs of the PedBE clock was tested using Fisher's Exact test with all CpGs measured on the Illumina HumanMethylation450 BeadChip as background. Methylation levels of dexamethasone-responsive CpGs within the PedBE clock were contrasted between groups stratified by internalizing disorder and maltreatment exposure using analysis of variance.

3. Results

Demographic and clinical features of the sample are presented in Table 1. Children with and without internalizing disorder did not differ in age, ethnicity, sex or BMI (all p > .05). However, mean SES was lower in children with internalizing disorder compared to those without internalizing disorder (p < .001). As expected, the proportion of maltreated children with gher among children with internalizing disorder (χ^2 [2, N = 158] = 11.96, p = .003).

Univariate analysis of covariance revealed a significant main effect of internalizing disorder on epigenetic ageing deviation: Children with current internalizing disorder exhibited significant acceleration of epigenetic ageing (M = 0.29, SE = 0.13) compared to children without internalizing disorder (M = -0.13, SE = 0.87, F_{1,147} = 6.67, *p* = .011; see Fig. 2). Children with internalizing disorder on average were 1.87



Internalizing Disorder

Fig. 2. Analysis of covariance of standardized residuals of PedBE clock-estimated epigenetic age regressed against chronological age in children with (n = 49) and without (n = 109) internalizing disorder (Means and 95% CI error bars). Adjusted for cell composition, sex, genetic ethnicity, BMI, and SES. *p < .05.

months epigenetically older than their chronological age, whereas children without internalizing disorder on average were 0.84 months younger than their chronological age. This means that children with internalizing disorder exhibited on average 2.71 months age acceleration compared to children without internalizing disorder.

Of note, there was a significant effect of sex on epigenetic ageing acceleration ($F_{1,147} = 6.62$, p = .011) indicating higher epigenetic ageing in girls. To follow up on this finding, we tested a second model that included an interaction term of internalizing disorder by sex. The main effects of both internalizing disorder ($F_{1,146} = 6.80$, p = .010) and sex ($F_{1,146} = 6.36$, p = .013) remained significant and there was no interaction effect of internalizing disorder by sex ($F_{1,146} = 2.21$, p = .646), suggesting that the main effect of internalizing disorder on epigenetic ageing is unaffected by sex.

We next examined whether severity of maltreatment moderates the relationship between internalizing disorder and epigenetic ageing acceleration (see Table 2). First, OLS regression revealed that there was no significant main effect of number of maltreatment categories on epigenetic ageing (b = 0.18, 95% CI [-0.110, 0.471], t = 1.228, p = .222). whereas the effect of internalizing disorder remained significant in this model (b = 0.34, 95% CI [0.027, 0.647], t = 2.149, p = .033). Moreover, we found a significant interaction effect between internalizing disorder and the number of maltreatment categories (b = 0.49, 95% CI [0.073, 0.909], t = 2.322, p = .022), suggesting that the severity of maltreatment significantly moderates the association between internalizing disorder and epigenetic ageing acceleration. In other words, children without internalizing disorder did not show ageing acceleration, regardless of maltreatment status, whereas children with internalizing disorder exhibited graded epigenetic ageing acceleration as a function of maltreatment severity. Again, there was a significant effect of sex in this model (b = -0.32, 95% CI [-0.628, -0.016], t = -2.083, p = .039) with girls demonstrating greater ageing acceleration than boys. However, the interaction effect between internalizing disorder and number of maltreatment categories predicting epigenetic ageing acceleration was unaffected by sex.

Post-hoc simple slope analysis of the conditional effects of internalizing disorder at three levels of the moderator variable revealed a graded effect on epigenetic ageing acceleration (see Fig. 3). Internalizing disorder in children who had experienced 1 or 2 maltreatment categories was associated with significant epigenetic ageing acceleration relative to their chronological age (n = 55, b = 0.50, 95% CI [0.170, 0.821], t = 3.008, p = .003), equivalent to an average of 3.19 months ageing acceleration relative to their chronological in children who experienced 3 or more maltreatment categories was significantly associated with epigenetic ageing acceleration relative to their chronological age (n = 26, b = 0.99, 95% CI [0.380, 1.593], t = 3.215, p = .002), equivalent to an average of 6.36 months ageing acceleration. In the absence of maltreatment exposure, internalizing disorder was associated with congruency between chronological age and epigenetic age (n = 77, b = 0.00, 95% CI [-0.436, 0.444], t = 0.019, p = .985).

The total moderation model accounted for a significant amount of variance in epigenetic ageing acceleration (R^2 =.275, $F_{12, 145}$ = 4.797, p < .001). A post-hoc power analysis for the OLS regression model with 158 children, 12 predictors (internalizing disorder, maltreatment

Table 2

Linear Model of Predictors of PedBE clock-based Estimates of Epigenetic Ageing as a Function of Internalizing Disorder and Maltreatment Severity Categories Adjusted for cell type composition, sex, genetic ethnicity, BMI, and SES.

	b	SE	t	р
Constant	-14.82	6.74	-2.20	.030
Internalizing Disorder	0.37	0.16	2.15	.033
Number of Maltreatment Categories	0.18	0.15	1.23	.222
Internalizing Disorder * Number of Maltreatment Categories	0.49	0.21	2.32	.022

52

Neurobiology of Stress 15 (2021) 100394

severity categories, interaction term, and 9 covariates) with an alpha of .05 and the observed effect size of $f^2 = .38$ revealed a statistical power of > .99.

Using data from an independent sample that identified dexamethasone-responsive CpGs on a genome-wide level (Provençal et al., 2020), we observed a highly significant enrichment of dexamethasone-responsive CpGs within the PedBE clock (Fisher's Exact: p = 1.65*10-6, Odds Ratio = 4.36). Specifically, of the 94 CpGs that compose the PedBE clock, 18 were found to show significant differences in DNA methylation following dexamethasone exposure, suggesting that a substantial proportion of the CpGs in the PedBE clock is susceptible to glucocorticoid-induced DNA methylation changes. Among these CpGs, we found individual differential methylation at cg16618789 (F = 3.80, p = .005) and at cg03493146 (F = 2.92, p = .023) in children with maltreatment exposure and internalizing disorder.

4. Discussion

This is the first clinical study that applies the PedBE clock for the estimation of epigenetic age to a pediatric sample of children with internalizing disorder or maltreatment exposure, or both. Because epigenetic ageing in early life as compared to older age likely involves different DNA methylation patterns and follows a different temporal pace, adult clocks are less suitable to estimate epigenetic ageing deviation in young children. The PedBE clock provides a highly accurate molecular measure of biological age and was specifically developed and validated for the age range of children included in our sample (McEwen et al., 2020). Thus, our study represents a significant methodological advance over prior studies that reported on biological ageing deviation in children with affective disorders or maltreatment exposure using adult epigenetic clocks.

Using residuals from the regression of PedBE clock-based epigenetic age estimates against chronological age, we found that internalizing disorder in children is associated with markedly accelerated epigenetic ageing as compared to children without internalizing disorder. We further demonstrate that the association between internalizing disorder and epigenetic ageing is moderated by maltreatment severity. This means that epigenetic ageing acceleration occurs in children with internalizing disorder who also experienced maltreatment, but not in children with internalizing disorder alone and not in children with maltreatment alone. This apparent moderation supports a subtype of internalizing disorder that manifests in relation to stress and has distinct biological features and pathophysiological pathways (Heim et al., 2004; 2013). Using the more accurate and Teicher and Samson, developmentally-sensitive methodology of the PedBE clock, our results provide validation for previous studies results that reported accelerated epigenetic ageing in children with affective disorders or maltreatment exposure based on adult epigenetic clocks (Austin et al., 2018; Hamlat et al., 2021; Han et al., 2018; Jovanovic et al., 2017; Marini et al., 2020: Sumner et al., 2019; Shenk et al., 2021). We extend these findings by providing the stratified moderation analysis identifying a subtype of internalizing disorder and maltreatment exposure that demonstrates accelerated epigenetic ageing. It is noteworthy that a biological subtype of internalizing disorder related to ELS is already distinguishable at the early age of 3-5 years, further underscoring the potential for defining early drivers of pathology and the need for designing novel early interventions that mitigate these drivers. Importantly and in line with findings in adults (Han et al., 2018), our results suggest that the severity of ELS might be critical for the link between internalizing disorder and epigenetic ageing acceleration. While, among children with internalizing disorder, significant epigenetic ageing acceleration was detectable in those exposed to 1 to 2 categories of maltreatment exposure, the pace of acceleration appeared to be faster in those with 3 or more forms of maltreatment exposure.

Stratified effects as a function of the co-occurrence of major depression and ELS have been observed for glucocorticoid signaling and

Neurobiology of Stress 15 (2021) 100394



Fig. 3. Simple slope equations of the regression of epigenetic ageing on internalizing disorder at three levels of number of maltreatment categories. Adjusted for cell type composition, sex, genetic ethnicity, BMI and SES. **p < .01.

systemic inflammation in adults (Heim et al., 2008; Danese et al., 2008). Systemic inflammation, as evidenced by elevated levels of C-reactive protein, has been reported for children as young as 3–5 years of age as a correlate of maltreatment (Danese et al., 2011; Entringer et al., 2020). There is evidence that glucocorticoids and immune mediators are drivers of epigenetic ageing (Horvath and Raj, 2018; Quach et al., 2017). We previously reported dynamic methylation change in CpGs composing the Horvath clock and altered transcription of genes neighboring these CpGs in adults 3 h after oral intake of dexamethasone (Zannas et al., 2015). One study reported that diurnal cortisol secretion associates with epigenetic ageing acceleration in adolescent girls (Davis et al., 2017). It is, hence, conceivable that glucocorticoid signaling contributes to the effects observed in the current study.

F. Dammering et al.

Importantly, we here demonstrate direct evidence that the CpGs composing the PedBE clock are at least in part regulated by glucocorticoids, which we consider a highly relevant finding. Based on a genomewide identification of dexamethasone-responsive CpGs in blood cells obtained from an independent sample (Provençal et al., 2020), we were able to conduct an enrichment analysis by comparing observed frequency of dexamethasone-responsive CpGs within the PedBE clock background of the genome-wide against the list of dexamethasone-responsive GpGs. We found a highly significant enrichment indicating that significantly more CpGs within PedBE are responsive to glucocorticoids than would be expected based on the frequency in the total list. This means that during early development, epigenetic ageing could be regulated and influenced by glucocorticoids, which is in line with a sensitive period for stress effects on biological ageing. This finding suggests that the observed effects in our study are in part mediated by glucocorticoid exposure in these young children. Accordingly, within the 18 dexamethasone-responsive CpGs of the PedBE, two sites were differentially-methylated in children with internalizing disorder and maltreatment exposure. The mechanism by which glucocorticoids regulate DNA methylation and, hence, epigenetic ageing likely involves local glucocorticoid receptor-induced genomic processes, such as DNA-excision repair mechanisms (Kress et al., 2006; Thomassin et al., 2001).

The observation of accelerated epigenetic ageing as a function of internalizing disorder and maltreatment in early childhood together with the observation of high susceptibility of the PedBE clock for stress signaling raises important theoretical implications: Accelerated DNA methylation-based ageing in early childhood, as observed in our study, could either reflect accelerated maturational pace, i.e. more rapid developmental change, versus more rapid ageing-related decline. On the basis of evolutionary theory, it has been suggested that early adversity and threat experiences may indeed lead to a more rapid development, leading to earlier onset of puberty, to ensure reproduction and survival in an unsafe environment (Ellis & del Giudice, 2019). In this framework, it also makes sense that the CpGs that compose the PedBE clock are particularly sensitive to stress signaling. While rapid developmental pace may be beneficial for survival, it may result in failure to reach full potential and may promote increased morbidity and rapid ageing-related decline over time (Belsky et al., 2015). While our data are compatible with this theoretical framework, prospective studies are needed to scrutinize the trade-off between adaptation and vulnerability in relation to early accelerated DNA methylation ageing as a response to stress in early life.

Interesting in this regard is the finding that girls exhibited overall greater epigenetic ageing than boys, although there was no interaction of sex and internalizing disorder in the prediction of epigenetic ageing acceleration and the moderation effect of internalizing disorder and maltreatment exposure on epigenetic ageing acceleration was unaffected by sex. The literature on sex differences in epigenetic ageing is inconsistent. Greater epigenetic ageing has been reported for adult and adolescent males compared to females, but not for pre-pubertal children (Horvath et al., 2016; Simpkin et al., 2016). One study reported accelerated epigenetic ageing as a function of ELS in adolescent girls, but not in boys (Tang et al., 2020). It should be noted that pubertal stage is critical to such studies, as sex differences may be driven by sex hormones. In our study, children were pre-pubertal and, therefore, the main effect of sex cannot be attributed to sex hormones. Of note, we recently observed sex differences in levels of inflammation as a function of maltreatment in our current cohort, as evidenced by elevated levels of C-reactive protein over 24 months among maltreated girls as compared to non-maltreated girls and maltreated and non-maltreated boys (Entringer et al., 2020). Increased inflammatory signaling in girls may contribute to sex differences in epigenetic ageing (Quach et al., 2017); however, we did not see an interaction effect of sex and maltreatment in our study in the prediction of epigenetic ageing. Interestingly, elevated levels of inflammation in pre-pubertal children have been reported to affect the onset of menarche (Michels et al., 2020). Early menarche onset

has been shown to associate with accelerated epigenetic ageing based on DNA methylation in the GrimAge epigenetic clock (Lu et al., 2019) that has validity for adults and predicts mortality risk (Hamlat et al., 2021), in line with the above theoretical considerations of a trade-off between rapid maturation and increased morbidity or mortality. Future studies should scrutinize the role of sex differences in accelerated epigenetic ageing and pubertal pacing in response to stress.

Unique strengths of our study include the application of the PedBE clock in a clinical study of very young children combined with an indepth clinician-administered diagnostic assessment of children from a sample that was enriched for maltreatment exposure as well as access to an independent sample to assess the role of glucocorticoid signaling in our clinical results. Limitations of the study include a small sample size as well as the cross-sectional design hampering causal interpretations. In addition, we did not relate our results to mediators, such as inflammation or stress hormone levels in children. Longitudinal multi-system studies are needed to address these limitations.

In conclusion, we provide a valid estimate of epigenetic ageing in early childhood using the novel PedBE clock. Using this advanced methodology, we provide evidence for accelerated epigenetic ageing in children with internalizing disorder, but only in those who were exposed to maltreatment, reflecting a moderation effect and supporting the existence of a distinct biological subtype as a function internalizing disorder and concomitant maltreatment exposure that is already identifiable at the age of 3-5 years. We finally provide compelling evidence that the PedBE clock is enriched for CpGs that are responsive to glucocorticoid signaling, suggesting that epigenetic ageing in childhood might be sensitive to stress. Stress-regulation of epigenetic ageing during early childhood may enable a trade-off between more rapid maturation to enhance survival with the toll of increasing morbidity. Our findings underscore the need for the development of early interventions that may mitigate adverse outcomes of ELS and promote healthy trajectories across the lifespan.

CRediT authorship contribution statement

Felix Dammering: Investigation, Methodology, Formal analysis, Data curation, Writing - original draft, Writing - review & editing, Visualization. Jade Martins: Investigation, Methodology, Formal analysis, Data curation, Writing - review & editing. Katja Dittrich: Investigation, Resources. Darina Czamara: Methodology, Formal analysis, Data curation. Monika Rex-Haffner: Investigation, Resources. Judith Overfeld: Investigation, Resources. Karin de Punder: Investigation, Resources. Claudia Buss: Conceptualization, Funding acquisition, Investigation, Supervision, Writing - review & editing. Sonja Entringer: Supervision, Formal analysis, Analysis, Resources, Writing review & editing. Sibylle M. Winter: Conceptualization, (clinical part), Funding acquisition, Investigation, Resources, Supervision. Elisabeth B. Binder: Conceptualization, Funding acquisition, Investigation, Resources, Supervision, Writing - review & editing. Christine Heim: Conceptualization, Funding acquisition, Project administration, Investigation, Resources, Supervision, Writing - original draft, Writing - review & editing.

Declaration of competing interest

None

Acknowledgement

This research was funded by the German Federal Ministry of Education and Research (BMBF) 01KR1301-A (to CH) and 01KR1301-B (to EBB), We thank Michael Kobor, PhD, and Lisa McEwen, PhD, Dept, of Medical Genetics, Centre for Molecular Medicine and Therapeutics, BC Children's Hospital Research Institute, University of British Columbia, Vancouver, Canada, for providing the PedBE clock algorithm. We thank

Peggy Dörr, PhD, Elena Murray, MSc, Gergana Karaboycheva, MD, Christian Zimmermann, MD, and Ferdinand Hoffmann, PhD, Charité -Universitätsmedizin Berlin, Berlin, Germany, for contributions to data collection and/or suggestions on data analysis.

References

- Alisch, R.S., Barwick, B.G., Chopra, P., Myrick, L.K., Satten, G.A., Conneely, K.N. March, Hos, Barte, Son, Geostein, F., Myrke, J.R., Sutter, Otta, Omecy, Ietr, Warren, S.T., 2012. Age-associated DNA methylation in pediatric populations. Genome Res. 22, 623–632. https://doi.org/10.1101/gr.125187.111.
 Aryce, M.J., Jaffe, A.E., Corrada-Bravo, H., Ladd-Acosta, C., Feinberg, A.P., Hansen, K.D.,
- Irizarry, R.A., 2014. Minfi: a flexible and comprehensive Bioconductor package for the analysis of Infinium DNA methylation microarrays. Bioinformatics 30, 1363-1369
- tin, M.K., Chen, E., Ross, K.M., McEwen, L.M., MacIsaac, J.L., Kobor, M.S., Miller, G. E., 2018. Early-life socioeconomic disadvantage, not current, predicts accelerated
- E., 2018. Early-life socioeconomic disadvantage, not current, predicts accelerated epigenetic aging of monocytes. Psychoneuroendocrinology 97, 131–134. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.psyneuen.2018.07.007. nett, D., Manly, J.T., Cicchetti, D., 1993. Defining child maltreatment: the interface between policy and research. In: Cicchetti, D., Toth, S.L. (Eds.), Child Abuse, Child Development, and Social Policy. Ablex, Norwood, NJ, pp. 7–73.
- Belsky, J., Rutle, P.L., Boyce, W.T., Armstrong, J.M., Essex, M.J., 2015. Early adversity, elevated stress physiology, accelerated sexual maturation, and poor health in females. Dev. Psychol. 51, 816–822. https://doi.org/10.1037/dev0000017.
- Chen, Y.A., Lemire, M., Choufani, S., Butcher, D.T., Grafodatskaya, D., Zanke, B.W. in Liti, Johnson M., Karlowini, G., Javieri, D.Y., Mirkanson, F., James, T., Gallinger, S., Hudson, T.J., Weksberg, R., 2013. Discovery of cross-reactive probes and polymorphic CpGs in the Illumina infinium HumanMethylation450 microarray. Epigenetics 8, 203–209. https://doi.org/10.4161/epi.23470. hetti, D., Toth, S.L., Manly, J.T., 2003. Maternal Maltreatment Classification
- . Mt H amily Barchward, M. C. Ster, M. S. S. Ster, M. S
- of stress through inflammation processes in childhood. Mol. Psychiatry 16, 244-246. /10.1038/ 010 5 key A., McEwen, B.S., 2012. Adverse childhood experiences, allostasis, allostatic load, and age-related disease. Physiol. Behav. 106, 29–39. https://doi.org/10.101
- se, A., Moffitt, T.E., Pariante, C.M., Ambler, A., Poulton, R., Caspi, A., 2008. Da
- Elevated inflammation levels in depressed adults with a history of childhood maltreatment. Arch. Gen. Psychiatry 65, 409–415. https://doi.org/10.1001/a
- Darrow, S.M., Verhoeven, J.E., Revesz, D., Lindqvist, D., Penninx, B.W.J.H., Delucchi, K. L., Mathews, C.A., 2016. The association between psychiatric disorders and telome length: a meta-analysis involving 14,827 persons. Psychosom. Med. 78, 776–787.
- https://doi.org/10.1097/Psy.00000000000356. Davidson, R., MacKinnon, J., 1993. Estimation and Inference in Econometrics. Oxford ty Press
- Davis, E.G., Humphreys, K.L., McEwen, L.M., Sacchet, M.D., Camacho, M.C., MacIsaac, J. L., Lin, D.T.S., Kobor, M.S., Gotlib, I.H., 2017. Accelerated DNA methylation age in adolescent girls: associations with elevated diurnal cortisol and reduced hippocampal volume. Transl. Psychiatry 7, e1223. https://doi.org/10.1038/tp
- Drury, S.S., Theall, K., Gleason, M.M., Smyke, A.T., De Vivo, I., Wong, J.Y.Y., Zeanah, C. H., Nelson, C.A., 2012. Telomere length and early severe social deprivation: linking early adversity and cellular aging. Mol. Psychiatry 17, 719-727. https://doi.org
- /10.1038/mp.2011.53. rr, H.L., Angold, A., 2004. The Preschool Age Psychiatric Asses ent (PAPA) a c) file, higo, h, book the reschool nge sychiatric disorders in preschool structured parent interview for diagnosing psychiatric disorders in preschool children. In: Delcarmen-Wiggins, R., Carter, A. (Eds.), Handbook of Infant, Toddler, and Preschool Mental Health Assessment. Oxford University Press, New York, 02 042
- is, B.J., del Guidice, M., 2019. Developmental adaptation to stress: an evolutionary perspective. Annu. Rev. Psychol. 70, 111–139. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurevvch-122216-011732
- Instructure Construction (Network) (Network 1725-1731 httr doi.org/10.1017/S095
- Faul, F., Erdfelder, E., Buchner, A., Lang, A.G., 2009. Statistical power analyses using G*Power 3.1: tests for correlation and regression analyses. Behav. Res. Methods 41, 1149–1160. https://doi.org/10.3758/BRM.41.4.1149.
- Fransquet, P.D., Wrigglesworth, J., Woods, R.L., Ernst, M.E., Ryan, J., 2019. The epigenetic clock as a predictor of disease and mortality risk: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Clin. Epigenetics 11, 62. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13148-019-0
- Fries, G.R., Bauer, I.E., Scaini, G., Wu, M.J., Kazimi, I.F., Valvassori, S.S., Zunta Soares, G., Walss-Bass, C., Soares, J.C., Quevedo, J., 2017. Accelerated epigenetic aging and mitochondrial DNA copy number in bipolar disorder. Transl. Psychiatry 7, 1283. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41398-017-0048-8.
- Gassen, N.C., Chrousos, G.P., Binder, E.B., Zannas, A.S., 2017. Life stress, glucocorticoid signalling, and the aging epigenome: implications for aging-related diseases. Neurosci. Biobehav. Rev. 74, 356–365. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neubiorev.2016.0

Neurobiology of Stress 15 (2021) 100394

F. Dammering et al.

- Hamlat, E.J., Prather, A.A., Horvath, S., Belsky, J., Epel, E.S., 2021. Early life adversity, pubertal timing, and epigenetic age acceleration in adulthood. Dev. Psychobiol. 63, 890–902. https://doi.org/10.1002/dov.2008
- 890–902. https://doi.org/10.1002/dev.22065.Han, L.K.M., Aghajani, M., Clark, S.L., Chan, R.F., Hattab, M.W., Shabalin, A.A., Zhao, M., Kumar, G., Xie, L.Y., Jansen, R., Milaneschi, Y., Dean, B., Aberg, K.A., van den Oord, E.J.C.G., Penninx, B.W.J.H., 2018. Epigenetic aging in major depressive disorder. Am. J. Psychiatry 175, 774–782. https://doi.org/10.1176/appi.ajp.2018 1.17060595.
- Hannum, G., Guinney, J., Zhao, L., Zhang, L., Hughes, G., Sadda, S., Klotzle, B., Biblikova, M., Fan, J.B., Gao, Y., Deconde, R., Chen, M., Rajapakse, I., Friend, S., Ideker, T., Zhang, K., 2013. Genome-wide methylation profiles reveal quantitative views of human aging rates. Mol. Cell 49, 359–367. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. molcel.2012.10.016.
 Hayes, A.F., 2017. Introduction to Mediation, Moderation, and Conditional Process
- Hayes, A.F., 2017. Introduction to Mediation, Moderation, and Conditional Proces Analysis: A Regression-Based Approach. The Guilford Press: New York.
- Hayes, A.F., Cai, L., 2007. Using heteroskedasticity-consistent standard error estimators in OLS regression: an introduction and software implementation. Behav. Res. Methods 39, 709–722. https://doi.org/10.3758/ME03192961.
- Methods 39, 709–722. https://doi.org/10.376/br03122901.
 Hayes, A.F., Rockwood, N.J., 2017. Regression-based statistical mediation and moderation analysis in clinical research: observations, recommendations, and implementation. Behav. Res. Ther. 98, 39–57. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brat.2016 .11.001.
- Heim, C., Mletzko, T., Purselle, D., Musselman, D.L., Nemeroff, C.B., 2008. The dexamethasone/corticotropin-releasing factor test in men with major depression: role of childhood trauma. Biol. Psychiatry 63, 398-405. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. biopsych.2007.07.002.
- Heim, C., Plotsky, P.M., Nemeroff, C.B., 2004. The importance of studying the contributions of early adverse experience to the neurobiology of depression. Neuropsychopharmacology 29, 641–648. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.npp.1300397.Horlich, J., Dehmel, S., Sierau, S., White, L.O., von Klitzing, K., 2014a. Das Maltreatment Classification System (MCS). Ein Modell zur Kategorisierung von
- Classification System (MCS). Ein Mödell zur Kategorisierung von Kindesmisshandlung und -vernachlässigung (Teil 1). Soz. Arb. 6, 202–210.
 Horlich, J., Dehmel, S., Sierau, S., White, L.O., von Klirzing, K., 2014b. Das Maltreatmer Classification System (MCS). Ein Modell zur Kategorisierung von Kindesmisshandlung und -vernachlässigung (Teil 2). Soz. Arb. 7, 242–249.
- Kindesmisshandlung und -vernachlässigung (Tell 2). Soz. Arb. 7, 242-249.
 Horvath, S., Raj, K., 2018. DNA methylation-based biomarkers and the epigenetic clock theory of ageing. Nat. Rev. Genet. 19, 371–384. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41576-0
- Horvath, S., Gurven, M., Levine, M.E., Trumble, B.C., Kaplan, H., Allayee, H., Ritz, B.R., Chen, B., Lu, A.T., Rickabaugh, T.M., Jamieson, B.D., Sun, D., Li, S., Chen, W., Quintana-Murci, L., Fagny, M., Kobor, M.S., Tsao, P.S., Reiner, A.P., Edlefsen, K.L., Absher, D., Assimes, T.L., 2016. An epigenetic clock analysis of race/ethnicity, sex, and coronary heart disease. Genome Biol. 17, 171. https://doi.org/10.1186/s130 50.016.1020.0
- Horvath, S., Erhart, W., Brosch, M., Ammerpohl, O., von Schonfels, W., Ahrens, M., Heits, N., Bell, J.T., Tsai, P.C., Spector, T.D., Deloukas, P., Siebert, R., Sipos, B., Becker, T., Röcken, C., Schafmayer, C., Hampe, J., 2014. Obesity accelerates epigenetic aging of human liver. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 111, 15538–15543. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1412759111.
- Horvath, S., 2013. DNA methylation age of human tissues and cell types. Genome Biol. 14, R115. https://doi.org/10.1186/gb-2013-14-10-115. Jovanovic, T., Vance, LA., Cross, D., Knipht, A.K., Klaru, V., Michopoulos, V.,
- Jovanovic, I., Vance, L.A., Cross, D., Knight, A.K., Kilaru, Y., Michopoulos, V., Klengel, T., Smith, A.K., 2017. Exposure to violence accelerates epigenetic aging in children. Sci. Rep. 7, 8962. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-017-09235-9.Kananen, L., Surakka, I., Pirkola, S., Suvisaari, J., Lonnqvist, J., Peltonen, L., Ripatti, S.,
- Kananen, L., Surakka, I., Pirkola, S., Suvisaari, J., Lonnqvist, J., Peltonen, L., Ripatti, S., Hovatta, I., 2010. Childhood adversities are associated with shorter telomere length at adult age both in individuals with an anxiety disorder and controls. PLoS One 5, e10826. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0010826.
- Kress, C., Thomassin, H., Grange, T., 2006. Active cytosine demethylation triggered by a nuclear receptor involves DNA strand breaks. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 103, 11112–11117. https://doi.org/10.1073/nnas.0601793103.
- Leek, J.T., Johnson, W.E., Parker, H.S., Jaffe, A.E., Storey, J.D., 2012. The sva package for removing batch effects and other unwanted variation in high-throughput experiments. Bioinformatics 28, 882–883. https://doi.org/10.1093/bioinformatics/ bts034.
- Lu, A.T., Seeboth, A., Tsai, P.C., Sun, D., Quach, A., Reiner, A.P., Kooperberg, C., Ferrucci, L., Hou, L., Baccarelli, A.A., Li, Y., Harris, S.E., Corley, J., Taylor, A., Deary, L.J., Stewart, J.D., Whitsel, E.A., Assimes, T.L., Chen, W., Li, S., Mangino, M., Bell, J.T., Wilson, J.G., Aviv, A., Marioni, R.E., Raj, K., Horvath, S., 2019. DNA methylation-based estimator of telomere length. Aging 11, 5895–5923. https://doi. org/10.18632/aging.102173.
- Marini, S., Davis, K.A., Soare, T.W., Zhu, Y., Suderman, M.J., Simpkin, A.J., Smith, A.D. A.C., Wolf, E.J., Relton, C.L., Dunn, E.C., 2020. Adversity exposure during sensitive periods predicts accelerated epigenetic aging in children. Psychoneuroendocrinology 113, 104484. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psyneuen.2019.104484.
- 113, 104484. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psyneuen.2019.104484.
 Martins, J., Czamara, D., Sauer, S., Rex-Haffner, M., Dittrich, K., Dörr, P., de Punder, K., Overfeld, J., Knop, A., Dammering, F., Entringer, S., Winter, S.M., Buss, C., Heim, C., Binder, E.B., 2021. Childhood adversity correlates with stable changes in DNA methylation trajectories in children and converges with epigenetic signatures of prenatal stress. Neurobiol. Stress 15, 2352–2895. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ynstr.20 21.100336.
- McEwen, L.M., O'Donnell, K.J., McGill, M.G., Edgar, R.D., Jones, M.J., MacIsaac, J.L., Lin, D.T.S., Ramadori, K., Morin, A., Gladish, N., Garg, E., Unternaehrer, E., Pokhvisneva, I., Karnani, N., Kee, M.Z.L., Klengel, T., Adler, N.E., Barr, R.G., Letourneau, N., Giesbrecht, G.F., Reynolds, J.N., Czamara, D., Armstrong, J.M., Essex, M.J., de Weerth, C., Beijers, R., Tollenaar, M.S., Bradley, B., Jovanovic, T.,

- Ressler, K.J., Steiner, M., Entringer, S., Wadhwa, P.D., Buss, C., Bush, N.R., Binder, E. B., Boyce, W.T., Meaney, M.J., Horvath, S., Kobor, M.S., 2020. The PedBE clock accurately estimates DNA methylation age in pediatric buccal cells. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 117, 23329–23335. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1820843116.
 Michels, K.B., Keller, K., Pereira, A., Kim, C.E., Santos, J.L., Shepherd, J., Corvalan, C.,
- Wichels, K.B., Keller, K., Pereira, A., Kim, C.E., Santos, J.L., Shepherd, J., Corvalan, C., Binder, A.M., 2020. Association between indicators of systemic inflammation biomarkers during puberty with breast density and onset of menarche. Breast Cancer Res. 22, 104. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13058-020-01338-y.
- Mitchell, C., Hobcraft, J., McLanahan, S.S., Siegel, S.R., Berg, A., Brooks-Gunn, J., Garfinkel, I., Notterman, D., 2014. Social disadvantage, genetic sensitivity, and children's telomere length. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 111, 5944–5949. https://do i.org/10.1073/pnas.1404293111.
 Müller, C., Schillert, A., Röthemeier, C., Trégouët, D.A., Proust, C., Binder, H.,
- Müller, C., Schillert, A., Rothemeier, C., Tregouet, D.A., Proust, C., Binder, H., Pfeiffer, N., Beutel, M., Lackner, K.J., Schnabel, R.B., Tiret, L., Wild, P.S., Blankenberg, S., Zeller, T., Ziegler, A., 2016. Removing batch effects from longitudinal gene expression - quantile normalization plus combat as best approach for microarray transcriptome data. PLoS One 11, e0156594. https://doi.org /10.1371/journal.pone.0156594.
- Nevalainen, T., Kananen, L., Marttila, S., Jylhävä, J., Mononen, N., Kähönen, M., Raitakari, O.T., Hervonen, A., Jylhä, M., Lehtimäki, T., Hurme, M., 2017. Obesity accelerates epigenetic aging in middle-aged but not in elderly individuals. Clin. Epigenetics 9, 20. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13148-016-0301-7.
- O'Donovan, A., Epel, E., Lin, J., Wolkowitz, O., Cohen, B., Maguen, S., Metzler, T., Lenoci, M., Blackburn, E., Neylan, T.C., 2011. Childhood trauma associated with short leukocyte telomere length in posttraumatic stress disorder. Biol. Psychiatry 70, 465–471. https://doi.org/10.1016/jl.biopsych.2011.01.035.
- Perna, L., Zhang, Y., Mons, U., Holleczek, B., Saum, K.U., Brenner, H., 2016. Epigenetic age acceleration predicts cancer, cardiovascular, and all-cause mortality in a German case cohort. Clin. Epigenetics 8, 64. https://doi.org/10.1186/s1148-016-0228-z. Pidsley, R., Zotenko, E., Peters, T.J., Lawrence, M.G., Risbridger, G.P., Molloy, P., Van
- Pidsley, R., Zotenko, E., Peters, T.J., Lawrence, M.G., Risbridger, G.P., Molloy, P., Van Djik, S., Muhhausler, B., Stirzaker, C., Clark, S.J., 2016. Critical evaluation of the Illumina MethylationEPIC BeadChip microarray for whole-genome DNA methylation profiling. Genome Biol. 17, 208. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13059-016-1066-1.Provençal, N., Arloth, J., Cattaneo, A., Anacker, C., Cattane, N., Wiechmann, T., Röh, S., Vision, M., Marker, C., Cattane, N., Wiechmann, T., Röh, S.,
- Provencjal, N., Ariotti, J., Cattaneo, A., Anacker, C., Cattane, N., Wiechmann, I., Koh, S., Ködel, M., Klengel, T., Czamara, D., Müller, N.S., Lahti, J., Räikkönen, K., Pariante, C.M., Binder, E.B., PREDO team, 2020. Glucocorticoid exposure during hippocampal neurogenesis primes future stress response by inducing changes in DNA methylation. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 117, 23280–23285. https://doi.org/10.1 073/nnas.1820842116.
- Quach, A., Levine, M.E., Tanaka, T., Lu, A.T., Chen, B.H., Ferrucci, L., Ritz, B., Bandinelli, S., Neuhouser, M.L., Beasley, J.M., Snetselaar, L., Wallace, R.B., Tsao, P. S., Absher, D., Assimes, T.L., Stewart, J.D., Li, Y., Hou, L., Baccarelli, A.A., Whitsel, E.A., Horvath, S., 2017. Epigenetic clock analysis of diet, exercise, education, and lifestyle factors. Aging 9, 419–446. https://doi.org/10.18632/agi no 101168
- Rentscher, K.E., Carroll, J.E., Mitchell, C., 2020. Psychosocial stressors and telomere length: a current review of the science. Annu. Rev. Publ. Health 41, 223–245. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-publhealth-040119-094239.
- Shalev, I., Moffitt, T.E., Sugden, K., Williams, B., Houts, R.M., Danese, A., Mill, J., Arseneault, L., Caspi, A., 2013. Exposure to violence during childhood is associated with telomere erosion from 5 to 10 years of age: a longitudinal study. Mol. Psychiatry 18, 576–581. https://doi.org/10.1038/mp.2012.32.
- Psychiatry 18, 576–581. https://doi.org/10.1038/mp.2012.32.
 Shenk, C.E., O'Donnell, K.J., Pokhvisneva, I., Kobor, M.S., Meaney, M.J., Bensman, H.E., Allen, E.K., Olson, A.E., 2021. Epigenetic age acceleration and risk for posttraumatic stress disorder following exposure to substantiated child maltreatment. J. Clin. Child Adolesc. Psychol. 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1080/13574416.2020.1864738.
 Simpkin, A.J., Hemani, G., Suderman, M., Gaunt, T.R., Lyttleton, O., McArdle, W.L.,
- Simpkin, A.J., Hemani, G., Suderman, M., Gaunt, I.K., Lyttieton, U., McArdle, W.L., Ring, S.M., Sharp, G.C., Tilling, K., Horvath, S., Kunze, S., Peters, A., Waldenberger, M., Ward-Caviness, C., Nohr, E.A., Sørensen, T.I., Relton, C.L., Smith, G.D., 2016. Prenatal and early life influences on epigenetic age in children: a study of mother-offspring pairs from two cohort studies. Hum. Mol. Genet. 25, 191–201. https://doi.org/10.1093/hmg/ddv456.
- 191–201. https://doi.org/10.1095/https/https/doi.org/10.1095/https/doi.org/10.1095/https/doi.org/10.1095/https/doi.org/10.1095/https/doi.org/10.1095/https/doi.org/10.1095/https/doi.org/10.1002/ doine.bi.37278.
- approximate J. Colich, N.L., Uddin, M., Armstrong, D., McLaughlin, K.A., 2019. Early experiences of threat, but not deprivation, are associated with accelerated biological aging in children and adolescents. Biol. Psychiatry 85, 268–278. https://doi.org/10 .1016/j.biopsych.2018.09.008.
- Surtees, P.G., Wainwright, N.W.J., Pooley, K.A., Luben, R.N., Khaw, K.T., Easton, D.F., Dunning, A.M., 2011. Life stress, emotional health, and mean telomere length in the european prospective investigation into cancer (epic)-norfolk population study. J. Gerontol. A. Biol. Sci. Med. Sci. 66, 1152–1162. https://doi.org/10.1093/gerona/ elc112
- Tang, R., Howe, L.D., Suderman, M., Relton, C.L., Crawford, A.A., Houtepen, L.C., 2020. Adverse childhood experiences, DNA methylation age acceleration, and cortisol in UK children: a prospective population-based cohort study. Clin. Epigenetics 12, 55. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13148-020-00844-2.
- Teicher, M.H., Samson, J.A., 2013. Childhood maltreatment and psychopathology: a case for ecophenotypic variants as clinically and neurobiologically distinct subtypes. Am. J. Psychiatry 170, 1114–1133. https://doi.org/10.1176/appi.ajp.2013.12070957.
- c. 137-mary 170, 117-113. https://doi.org/10.1170/appl.ajp.2015.120/095/. Thomassin, H., Flavin, M., Espinás, M.L., Grange, T., 2001. Glucocorticoid-induced DNA demethylation and gene memory during development. EMBO J. 20, 1974–1983. https://doi.org/10.1093/emboj/20.8.1974.

- Tollenaar, M.S., Beijers, R., Garg, E., Nguyen, T.T.T., Lin, D.T.S., MacIsaac, J.L., Shalev, I., Kobor, M.S., Meaney, M.J., O'Donnell, K.J., de Weerth, C., 2021. Internalizing symptoms associate with the pace of epigenetic aging in childhood. Biol. Psychol. 159, 108021. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopsycho.2021.108021. Tyrka, A.R., Price, L.H., Kao, H.T., Porton, B., Marsella, S.A., Carpenter, L.L., 2010.
- Childhood maltreatment and telomere shortening: preliminary support for an effect of early stress on cellular aging. Biol. Psychiatry 67, 531–534. https://doi.org/10
- Walker, E.R., McGee, R.E., Druss, B.G., 2015. Mortality in mental disorders and global
- Waiter, E.K., McCee, K.E., Druss, B.G., 2015. Mortainty in menial disorders and global disease burden implications: a systematic review and meta-analysis. JAMA Psychiatry 72, 334-341. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2014.2502.
 Winkler, J., Stolzenberg, H., 1999. Der Sozialschichtindex im Bundes-Gesundheitssurvey. Gesundheitswesen 61, 178–183.
 Wolf, E.J., Logue, M.W., Morrison, F.G., Wilcox, E.S., Stone, A., Schichman, S.A., McGlinchey, R.E., Milberg, W.P., Miller, M., 2019. Posttraumatic psychopathology

Neurobiology of Stress 15 (2021) 100394

and the pace of the epigenetic clock: a longitudinal investigation. Psychol. Med. 49, 791-800, https://e /10.1017 91718001411

- 791-800. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0033291718001411.
 Wolf, E.J., Maniates, H., Nugent, N., Maihofer, A.X., Armstrong, D., Ratanatharathorn, A., Ashley-Koch, A.E., Garrett, M., Kimbrel, N.A., Lori, A., Va Mid-Atlantic Mirecc Workgroup, Aiello, A.E., Baker, D.G., Beckham, J.C., Boks, M.P., Galea, S., Geuze, E., Hauser, M.A., Kessler, R.C., Koenen, K.C., Miller, M.W., Ressler, K.J., Risbrough, V., Rutten, B.P.F., Stein, M.B., Ursano, R.J., Vermetten, E., Vinkers, C.H., Uddin, M., Smith, A.K., Nievergelt, C.M., Logue, M.W., 2018. Traumatic stress and accelerated DNA methylation age: a meta-analysis. Psychoneuroendocrinology 92, 123–134. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psyneuen.201 Psychoneuroendocrinology 92, 123-134. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psyneuen.201 2 007
- 7.12.007.
 7.12.007.
 mas, A.S., Arloth, J., Carrillo-Roa, T., Jurato, S., Röh, S., Ressler, K.J., Nemeroff, C.B., Smith, A.K., Bradley, B., Heim, C., Menke, A., Lange, J.F., Brückl, T., Ising, M., Wray, N.R., Erhardt, A., Binder, E.B., Mehta, D., 2015. Lifetime stress accelerates epigenetic aging in an urban, African American cohort: relevance of glucocorticoid signaling. Genome Biol. 16, 266. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13059-015-0828-5. Zar

Curriculum Vitae

My curriculum vitae does not appear in the electronic version of my paper for reasons of data protection.

My curriculum vitae does not appear in the electronic version of my paper for reasons of data protection.

Publication list

Publication 1: Katthagen, T., Dammering, F., Kathmann, N., Kaminski, J., Walter, H., Heinz, A., & Schlagenhauf, F. (2016). Validating the construct of aberrant salience in schizophrenia - Behavioral evidence for an automatic process. Schizophrenia Research: Cognition, 6, 22-27. IF: 0.79

Publication 2: Heim, C., Dammering, F., & Entringer, S. (2020). Frühe Programmierung von Gesundheit und Krankheit. In U. Egle, C. Heim, B. Strauß, & R. von Känel, Psychosomatik - Neurobiologisch fundiert und evidenzbasiert. pp. 185-191. Stuttgart: Kohlhammer.

Publication 3: Martins J., Czamara, D., Sauer, S., Rex-Haffner, M., Dittrich, K., Dörr, K., de Punder, K., Overfeld, J., Knop, A., Dammering, F., Entringer, S., Winter, S. M., Buss, C., Heim, C., Binder, E. B. (2021). Childhood adversity correlates with stable changes in DNA methylation trajectories in children and converges with epigenetic signatures of prenatal stress. Neurobiology of Stress, 15. IF: 7.142

Publication 4: Dammering, F., Martins, J., Dittrich, K., Czamara, D., Rex-Haffner, M., Overfeld, J., de Punder, K., Buss, C., Entringer, S., Winter, S.M., Binder, E.B., Heim, C. (2021). The Pediatric Buccal Epigenetic Clock Identifies Significant Ageing Acceleration in Children with Internalizing Disorder and Maltreatment Exposure. Neurobiology of Stress, 15. IF: 7.142

Acknowledgments

Ich danke Christine Heim für die Supervision meiner Arbeit. Ich bedanke mich für die Weitergabe ihrer wissenschaftlichen und menschlichen Erfahrungen, die mir durch herausfordernde Zeiten innerhalb der Jahre in diesem besonderen und sensiblen Forschungsfeld sehr geholfen haben. Ich nehme von dem Austausch mit Christine Heim Inspiration für die Zukunft mit und danke ihr herzlich für die wertschätzende Zusammenarbeit. Christine Heim trug im Wesentlichen dazu bei, dass ich meinen Blick auf die Welt schärfen konnte.

Ich bedanke mich auch bei Sonja Entringer für die Supervision meiner Arbeit, den fachlichen Austausch und die gemeinsame Zusammenarbeit. Zudem danke ich ihr ebenso für das wertschätzende Miteinander während meiner Zeit am Institut für Medizinische Psychologie. Ich danke allen Kollegen vom Max-Planck-Institut für Psychiatrie in München und insbesondere bedanke ich mich bei Jade Martins und Elisabeth Binder für den wissenschaftlichen Austausch und die Kooperation im Rahmen dieser Studie.

Zudem bedanke ich mich bei meiner Familie und insbesondere bei meinen Eltern für die starke Stütze und die Ermutigungen während des Prozesses meiner wissenschaftlichen und persönlichen Entwicklung. Ihr Wissen und ihre eigenen Erfahrungen durch die Arbeit mit Kindern und Jugendlichen mit Förderbedarf halfen mir dabei, die Stärken von Kindern perspektivisch in den Vordergrund zu rücken. Vor allem an Tagen, an denen ich besonders bewegt war von den Erlebnissen und den Eindrücken der Kinder und der Familien vor Ort.

Für die Kinder der Vergangenheit, Gegenwart und Zukunft.